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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS AND STATISTICS

2012
RMB’000

2011
RMB’000

Change %
(Approximately)

Statement of comprehensive income
Revenue 650,999 455,185 43.0%
Gross profit 247,940 141,277 75.5%
Profit for the year 250,262 153,768 62.8%
Basic EPS (RMB cents) 22 15 46.7%   

Statement of financial position
Cash and cash equivalents 513,199 555,996 -7.7%
Secured bank loans 143,740 119,290 20.5%
Convertible bonds 181,731 141,626 28.3%
Net assets value (“NAV”) 1,287,216 789,736 63.0%
Current ratio (x) 4.7 2.5 –
Return on equity (“ROE”) 24.1% 21.6% –
NAV per share (RMB) 1.1 0.8 –   

2012
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I am very pleased to present to the shareholders (the “Shareholders”) of China Tianyi Holdings Limited (the “Company”) the 
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2012 (the “Reporting 
Period”). During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue increased by 43.0% from RMB455,185,000 for the last year to 
RMB650,999,000; and net profit increased by 62.8% from RMB153,768,000 for the last year to RMB250,262,000.

STRATEGY OVERVIEW
Following China’s shift of its economic growth pattern to consumption-based and growing domestic demand, China’s 
beverage market is on a rising trend. As a manufacturer of the key raw material of orange juice beverage/drink, the Group 
has benefited from the growth of China’s beverage market and is optimistic about its business growth.

Robust Domestic Market Demand – China is transforming into a domestic-driven and consumption-oriented market. 
All of the Group’s products are for domestic consumption and are well-recognized. China’s fruit juice beverage market has 
been rapidly rising since 2000 and has maintained satisfactory growth. The huge potential of China’s consumer market and 
beverage market are attracting leading beverage manufacturers over the world to continuously increase their investments 
in the Chinese market. Therefore, there is a high demand for quality domestically-produced concentrated orange juice. The 
premium products produced by the Group can meet its customers’ demand for quality, and has established a strategic 
relationship with its prestigious customers in the aspects of product development and application. During the Reporting 
Period, the Group continued to leverage economics of scale and sales and marketing advantages, and has maintained 
the leading position of its “Summi” brand in China’s frozen concentrated orange juice (“FCOJ”) industry through a higher 
production volume and better quality. For the Reporting Period, the sales of orange juice products rose by approximately 
66.6% from RMB307,264,000 for the last year to RMB511,778,000.

Quality Recognised by International Brands – The Group pays high regard to product safety and quality. From the 
types of orange saplings to fertilizers, and from the selection of raw materials, production processes to the use of packaging 
materials, the Group has complied with strict international safety standards to ensure food safety. The Group’s products 
have been awarded the product verification from various domestically and internationally renowned beverage manufacturers. 
The Group is one of the leading suppliers of FCOJ in China/Asia. The Group’s distinctive market position has enabled it to 
benefit even more from market growth.

Completion of Strategic Production Network – During the Reporting Period, the Group has successfully set up 
concentrated orange juice processing facilities in China’s three major citrus plantation areas (including Chongqing, Hunan, 
and Fujian), thereby completing the set-up of a strategic production network while further increasing the Group’s control 
over the source of raw materials. On 9 November 2011, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire equity interests 
in Huaihua Oujing Fruits Limited (“Oujing Fruits”). After its technological modification, the Group’s total annual production 
capacity of FCOJ has been increased from 22,000 tonnes to 30,000 tonnes. During the Reporting Period, the total annual 
production capacity of orange juice pulp has been increased from 30,000 tonnes to 50,000 tonnes. The Group will keep 
increasing the production capacity of its existing bases and processing facilities, while proactively identifying new acquisition 
targets so as to maintain its leading position in the industry.

Supported by the Nation’s Twelfth Five-Year Plan – During the Reporting Period, “The Twelfth Five-Year Plan for Food 
Industry Development” (the “Plan”) was jointly issued by the National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry 
of Information Industry. It was stated in the Plan that Chongqing, Hubei and Sichuan were proposed to be the key areas for 
developing FCOJ business to cope with consumption demand and facilitate an effective supply chain. In response to the 
call for “building a modern Chinese food industry featuring quality and safety, green ecology and amble supply to achieve a 
sustainable and healthy development” under the Plan, the Group continued to enlarge its capital expenditure with an addition 
of 34,000 mu of orange plantation area in Kai County of Chongqing. The Group’s self-operated plantation area increased 
to 95,000 mu from 71,000 mu for the last year. In response to the call for establishing enterprises for the new commercial 
planting mechanism of the subject in the No.1 Central Document ( ) in 2012, the Group has been proactively 
participating in the program of the development plan of orange industry of the Chongqing municipal government. Under the 
plan, the Group will, in an orderly manner, add 100,000 to 120,000 mu of new orange farms in the planned regions at Kai 
County, Chongqing, select desirable saplings for cultivation and expand the supply of oranges for producing FCOJ over the 
next 1–2 years.
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SHARE ALLOTMENT/CONVERTIBLE BONDS
In November 2011, 177,272,727 new ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were allotted to Mr. Ngai Chi Hang at 
HK$2.2 per Share by the Company, being the consideration of HK$390,000,000 for the acquisition of the entire issued share 
capital of Global One Management Limited (“Global One”) which indirectly holds 100% equity interests in Oujing Fruits.

The Group successfully issued the 3.5% coupon convertible bonds of HK$232,800,000 to CITIC Capital China Access Fund 
Limited on 18 May 2012, which further improved and laid a solid foundation for its capital structure.

DIVIDENDS
The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company does not recommend the payment of a final dividend 
for the Reporting Period.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
One of the main duties of the Board is to maintain good communications with the Shareholders and potential investors. 
The Group’s management paid regular visits to domestic and overseas prestigious institutional investors and private client 
investment advisors, as well as attended investor conferences, in order to update the Shareholders and potential investors 
about the Group’s latest business development.

PROSPECTS
The Group’s development is in line with the PRC government’s policies of developing agriculture, improving the environment 
and expanding domestic demand. Benefiting from the rapid development of the beverage industry, the implementation of 
the PRC government’s policies and the Group’s dedicated efforts, the Group has achieved multiple increase in turnover and 
completed the strategic set-up of production facilities in the three main orange plantation farms in China, since its listing in 
2008. The Group’s financial position is sound. The Group will capture every business opportunity and speed up its pace in 
development to further enhance the production capacity and proactively seek opportunities, at home and abroad, for merger 
and acquisition of quality concentrated orange juice processing facilities. Meanwhile, the Group will accelerate the process of 
expanding the orange plantation area to ensure a sufficient supply of raw materials for processing and costs reduction.

The Group is confident about the Group’s development and the prospects of the fruit juice beverage industry. The “Agriculture, 
rural areas and farmers” policy (三農政策) and the Plan of the PRC government which place emphasis on the fruit juice 
beverage industry, further boosts the Group’s confidence in its focus on FCOJ production. The Board and I would like to 
extend our sincere gratitude to all our customers, the Shareholders, senior management and employees for their efforts and 
support.

Sin Ke
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 September 2012
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BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group is principally engaged in processing and selling of FCOJ and its related products, and selling of fresh oranges. 
FCOJ is the primary raw material for the production of orange juice beverages. According to the statistics issued by the 
China Beverage Industry Association ( ), the Group is one of the leading producers in the FCOJ industry in 
China in terms of production volume.

With the improvement of Chinese consumption and living standard, the fruit juice market in China has maintained rapid 
growth in recent years, and demand for orange juice beverages has been particularly strong. The FCOJ manufacturing 
industry in China is just in the initial stage of its development and oranges for processing is in short supply, and therefore 
China’s existing production output of FCOJ is insufficient to meet the market demand. The meeting of the increasing demand 
for FCOJ in China relies primarily on imported products.

The Group is one of the few local suppliers providing FCOJ to world’s leading beverage/drink manufacturers in China. The 
Group has been operating in the FCOJ industry for 19 years. Extensive experience, high product quality and manufacturing 
skills are the keys to establishing stable relationships with world-class clients. The Group aims to maintain its leading position 
in the industry in China through continuing expansion of production capacity, orange farms, and product range, and also 
focusing on customers’ satisfaction.

Benefiting from the rapid development of the beverage industry, the implementation of the PRC government’s policies and 
the Group’s dedicated efforts, the Group has achieved multiple increase in turnover and completed the strategic set-up of 
production facilities in the three main orange plantation farms in China, since its listing in 2008. The Group’s financial position 
is sound. The Group will capture every business opportunity and speed up its pace in development to further enhance 
the production capacity and proactively seek opportunities, at home and abroad, for merger and acquisition of quality 
concentrated orange juice processing facilities. Meanwhile, the Group will accelerate the process of expanding the orange 
plantation area to ensure a sufficient supply of raw materials for processing and costs reduction for maintaining its leading 
position in the PRC’s FCOJ industry and providing a solid foundation for the Group’s further expansion to the overseas 
markets.

OPERATING PERFORMANCE
Revenue
Breakdown of revenue by product for the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011 are set out as follows:

2012 2011

RMB’000
Percentage of 
total revenue RMB’000

Percentage of 
total revenue

Sales of orange juice products 511,778 78.6% 307,264 67.5%
– Sales of FCOJ 254,099 39.0% 152,114 33.5%
– Sales of orange juice pulp 221,900 34.1% 136,673 30.0%
– Sales of orange fibre 30,147 4.6% 17,065 3.7%
– Others 5,632 0.9% 1,412 0.3%

Sales of fresh oranges 139,221 21.4% 147,921 32.5%    

Total revenue 650,999 100.0% 455,185 100.0%    

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue rose from approximately RMB455,185,000 for the last year to 
approximately RMB650,999,000, representing an approximately 43.0% increase. The growth was mainly due to the good 
harvest of oranges throughout China and the expansion of the Group’s production capacity, which enabled the Group to 
significantly increase the production volume of its orange juice products in order to meet the customers’ demand.
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Capitalizing on the growth in the output of China’s major orange producing areas during the Reporting Period, the 
Group fully utilized its expanded production capacity. Sales of the Group’s concentrated orange juice products, 
including FCOJ, orange juice pulp and orange fibre, increased from approximately RMB307,264,000 for the last year to 
approximately RMB511,778,000 for the Reporting Period. Sales of FCOJ rose by approximately 67.0% from approximately 
RMB152,114,000 last year to approximately RMB254,099,000, primarily due to the significant increase in sales volume. 
Sales of orange juice pulp increased by approximately 62.4% from approximately RMB136,673,000 for the last year to 
approximately RMB221,900,000, mainly attributable to the significant increase in the sales volume of orange juice pulp. Sale 
of orange fibre also significantly increased by approximately 76.7% from approximately RMB17,065,000 for the last year to 
approximately RMB30,147,000.

During the Reporting Period, there is a decrease in average selling price of fresh oranges. Therefore, sales of fresh 
oranges decreased by approximately 5.9% from approximately RMB147,921,000 for the last year to approximately 
RMB139,221,000.

The Group adopts an integrated business model and is one of the few concentrated orange juice processors operating its 
own upstream orange farms. It operates orange farms with a total area of 95,000 mu in Chongqing and Fujian province. 
The Group uses the lower-grade oranges harvested from these farms as raw materials for producing FCOJ and its related 
products, whereas the remaining oranges of higher grade are sold fresh. In addition to its own farm grown oranges, the 
Group also purchases oranges from independent third parties to produce FCOJ and its related products. The volume of 
oranges growing from the Group’s own orange farms and the volume of purchased oranges for the years ended 30 June 
2012 and 2011 are set out as follows:

2012 2011
approximate

tonnes
approximate

tonnes

Output of oranges from own orange farms
– Fresh oranges for sale 69,000 65,000
– Oranges for processing 44,000 63,000  

113,000 128,000

Purchased oranges for processing 201,000 63,000  

Total 314,000 191,000  

Gross Profit
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s gross profit in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income increased by 
approximately 75.5% to approximately RMB247,940,000 as compared to approximately RMB141,277,000 for the last year, 
mainly due to an increase in the sales volume of orange juice products.

Distribution Costs and Administrative Expenses
Distribution costs of the Group are mainly comprised of sales commission and transportation costs. The distribution costs 
decreased by approximately 56.5% from approximately RMB24,288,000 for the last year to approximately RMB10,565,000 
for the Reporting Period. The decrease was primarily due to the shift of a large portion of transportation costs resulted from 
sales to the Group’s customers.
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The Group’s administrative expenses mainly included general office administrative expenses, salaries and amortization etc. 
The administrative expenses increased by 29.5% from approximately RMB52,591,000 for the last year to approximately 
RMB68,096,000 for the Reporting Period mainly due to the additional administrative expenses from Global One (together 
with its subsidiaries, the “Global One Group”) which was acquired by the Group during the Reporting Period.

Finance Costs
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s finance costs were approximately RMB26,716,000 (2011: RMB19,576,000). The 
increase was due to the interest incurred under the 2012 Convertible Bonds (as defined hereinbelow) issued during the 
Reporting Period.

Tax Rate
The Group has been granted PRC enterprise income tax exemption for its orange juice processing business since 1 January 
2011. As the Group has already been exempted from PRC enterprise income tax for its fresh orange cultivation and sales 
of fresh orange business, the Group has not been subject to any PRC enterprise income tax of its business since 1 January 
2011. However, with the acquisition of the Global One Group during the Reporting Period, PRC enterprise income tax has 
been imposed on the revenue generated by the Group for further processing of orange juice products. Except for the above 
transaction, all the Group companies are exempted from the PRC enterprise income tax for the Reporting Period.

Financial Performance of Newly Acquired Subsidiary
Since the Group’s completion of the acquisition of Oujing Fruits on 9 November 2011, Oujing Fruits’ operating results had 
been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated accounts. The sales and net profit of Oujing Fruits since the completion 
date of acquisition up to 30 June 2012 were approximately RMB94,925,000 and approximately RMB35,977,000 
respectively.

Net profit
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s net profit rose by approximately 62.8% to approximately RMB250,262,000 as 
compared to approximately RMB153,768,000 for the last year.

Final Dividend
The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend to Shareholders for the Reporting Period (2011: nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES, GEARING AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Liquidity
As at 30 June 2012, current assets amounted to approximately RMB796,631,000 (2011: approximately RMB676,503,000). 
Current liabilities were approximately RMB170,132,000 (2011: approximately RMB274,291,000).

Financial Resources
As at 30 June 2012, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately RMB513,199,000 (2011: approximately 
RMB555,996,000); total secured bank loans of RMB143,740,000 (2011: RMB119,290,000); and outstanding convertible 
bonds of approximately RMB181,731,000 (2011: RMB141,626,000).

As at 30 June 2012, the Group had trade receivables of approximately RMB102,385,000 (2011: approximately 
RMB43,765,000) and inventories of approximately RMB33,892,000 (2011: approximately RMB7,925,000). The Group has 
a higher trade receivables and inventories as compared to last year. This is possibly due to the abnormal volatility in FCOJ 
future price which delayed customers’ regular purchase plans and payment. As at the date of approval of the financial 
statements, all trade receivables have been settled.
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Gearing
On 18 May 2012, the Company issued the 3.5% coupon convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of 
HK$232,800,000 to be due on the third anniversary of the date of issue to CITIC Capital China Access Fund Limited (the “2012 
Convertible Bonds”), details of which are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 9 May 2012 and 18 May 
2012.

On 28 May 2012, the Company redeemed the zero coupon convertible bonds issued by the Company on 28 May 2010 
(the “2010 Convertible Bonds”) held by Sequoia Capital China Growth Fund I, L.P., Sequoia Capital China Growth Partners 
Fund I, L.P. and Sequoia Capital China GF Principals Fund I, L.P. (collectively, the “Subscribers”) in an aggregate amount 
of US$24,200,000, being 110% of all the outstanding principal amount of the 2010 Convertible Bonds, in accordance with 
the terms and conditions of the same. Upon the redemption, the 2010 Convertible Bonds have been cancelled and the 
Subscribers ceased to hold any convertible bonds issued by the Group. Details of the 2010 Convertible Bonds and the said 
redemption are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 14 May 2010, 31 May 2010 and 28 May 2012.

On 30 June 2012, the Company has the 2012 Convertible Bonds with the outstanding principal amount of HK$232,800,000.

As at 30 June 2012, the total bank loans amounted to RMB143,740,000 (2011: RMB119,290,000), of which 
RMB117,800,000 was secured by cash deposited in offshore bank account (2011: RMB117,800,000). The secured bank 
loan of RMB5,100,000 was an interest-free entrusted bank loan granted by a local finance bureau in the PRC (2011: 
RMB5,100,000).

The Board’s approach to manage the Group’s working capital is to ensure sufficient liquid assets to meet its matured 
liabilities so as to avoid any unacceptable losses or damage to the Group’s reputation.

2012 2011

Quick ratio (x) 4.0 2.3
Current ratio (x) 4.7 2.5
Gearing ratio (note (a)) 25.3% 33%  

note (a) Gearing ratio is defined as sum of secured bank loans and convertible bonds over total equity.

Capital Structure
As at 30 June 2012, the total number of issued Shares was 1,208,672,727 Shares. Based on the closing price of HK$1.15 
per Share as at 29 June 2012, the Company’s market value as at 29 June 2012 was HK$1,389,973,636.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
The Group’s sales and purchases were dominated in RMB. As such, the Group has limited exposure to any significant 
foreign currency exchange risks. The Board does not expect any material impact on the Group’s operations caused by 
any foreign currency fluctuations. No financial instruments were employed by the Group for hedging purpose during the 
Reporting Period.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s capital expenditure amounted to approximately RMB386,466,000 (2011: 
approximately RMB34,106,000) which was used for acquisition of properties, plants, equipment, land use rights and lease 
prepayments for orange plantations.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 30 June 2012, the Group pledged property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB65,227,000 (2011: nil), 
land use rights of approximately RMB7,646,000 (2011: nil) and bank deposits of approximately RMB122,900,000 (2011: 
approximately RMB122,900,000) to secure the bank loans granted to the Group.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2012, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2011: nil).

ACQUISITION OF GLOBAL ONE GROUP
On 27 September 2011, Manwell (China) Limited ( ) (“Manwell”) (as purchaser and an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Mr. Ngai Chi Hang (as vendor) entered into a sale and purchase agreement, 
pursuant to which Manwell had conditionally agreed to acquire, and Mr. Ngai Chi Hang had conditionally agreed to sell, the 
entire issued share capital of Global One at the consideration of HK$390,000,000 to be satisfied by the issue and allotment 
of 177,272,727 Shares (the “Consideration Shares”) to Mr. Ngai Chi Hang at the issue price of HK$2.20 per Consideration 
Share. The acquisition was completed on 9 November 2011. 177,272,727 Consideration Shares were issued and allotted by 
the Company to Mr. Ngai Chi Hang on 11 November 2011.

Upon completion of the aforesaid acquisition, the Company indirectly owns the entire equity interest of Global One which 
in turn, indirectly holds 100% interest of Oujing Fruits which principally engaged in the processing and sale of fruits and 
vegetables in the PRC with an annual capacity of 6,000 tonnes. After completion of the acquisition, the Group’s total 
capacity of FCOJ increased approximately to 30,000 tonnes. For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company 
dated 27 September 2011 and 9 November 2011.

HUMAN RESOURCES
As at 30 June 2012, the Group employed approximately 934 employees (2011: 782 employees). The Group offered 
competitive remuneration package, discretionary bonuses and social insurance benefits to its employees. In addition, a share 
option scheme has been adopted on 7 June 2008 for, among others, the employees of the Group.

REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration to members of senior management of the Company (i.e. executive Directors and senior management of 
the Company as disclosed in the section headed “Board of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report) is within 
the following bands:

Remuneration Bands
Number of 

Senior Management

Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to nil to RMB819,000) 7

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (equivalent to RMB819,001 to RMB1,229,000) –

Over HK$1,500,000 (equivalent to RMB1,229,000 or above) 2  

9  

EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING PERIOD
Appointment of Mr. Chen Qiuming as Non-Executive Director
Mr. Chen Qiuming was appointed as a non-executive Director by the Company on 5 July 2012. For details, please refer to 
the announcement of the Company dated 4 July 2012.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Executive Directors
Sin Ke ( ), aged 51, is the chairman of the Board, the president and an executive Director. Mr. Sin has been involved 
in managerial and supervisory role in the Group from its establishment in 1993. Through which, Mr. Sin has gained more 
than 19 years of experience in the frozen concentrated juice industry. From 1982 to 1993 he was involved in the sales, 
manufacturing and administration of beverage, health products and pharmaceutical products. He was appointed as the 
honorary chairman of the Fujian Sports United Association of Macau ( ), the committee member of 
Hui’An Province Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference ( ), 
the council member of the Beverage Industry Association of China ( ), and the deputy chairman of the Fruit 
Trading Association of China ( ). Mr. Sin is the elder brother of Mr. San Kwan, an executive Director.

Mr. Sin is the director of Rich Anges Limited ( ), Sunshine Vocal Limited, Potel Limited ( ), Manwell 
(China) Limited ( ), Chongqing Shangguo Agriculture and Technology Co., Ltd (

), Chongqing Tianbang Food Co., Limited ( ), Sanming Summi Food Co., Limited (
) and Summi (Fujian) Food Co., Limited ( ) (“Summi (Fujian)”), all of which are wholly-owned 

subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Sin is also the director of Cheer Sky Limited ( ) (“Cheer Sky”) and Key Wise Group Limited ( ) 
(“Key Wise”), all are companies having an interest in the shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Sin did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.

San Kwan ( ), aged 44, is an executive Director. He joined the Group as a director of Summi (Fujian) in March 2005. He 
is responsible for assisting the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company in supervising the management of 
the Company. Mr. San Kwan is the younger brother of Mr. Sin Ke. From 1994 to 2006 he was the vice general manager of 
a company in Quanzhou, Fujian and was responsible for sales and marketing activities. Through which, Mr. San Kwan has 
gained experience in business.

Mr. San is also the director of Chongqing Tianbang Food Co., Limited ( ) and Summi (Fujian), both of 
which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. San did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.



C H I N A  T I A N Y I  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D

1 2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BO
ARD O

F DIRECTO
RS AND SENIO

R M
ANAG

EM
ENT

R
EP

O
R

T O
F TH

E D
IR

EC
TO

R
S

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
TE G

O
VER

N
A

N
C

E R
EP

O
R

T
IN

D
EP

EN
D

EN
T A

U
D

ITO
R

’S
 R

EP
O

R
T

Non-Executive Director
Chen Qiuming ( ), aged 56, is a non-executive Director. He joined the Group on 5 July 2012. Mr. Chen graduated from 
School of Chemistry of Nanjing Normal University. During 1984 to 1991, he worked for Jiangsu International Trust Investment 
Company ( ), responsible for providing financing and equity investment advisory services for large 
state-owned enterprises. He was among the first generation of private equity investment professionals in China since the 
country adopted its economic reform and open-up policies in the early 1980’s. From 1991 to 2008, he migrated to Australia 
and focused on international trade and financial activities. Mr. Chen decided to move back to China in 2008 and joined 
Sunland Investment Co., Ltd. ( ) (“Sunland”). He has successfully planned and completed numerous 
equity investment projects for Sunland ever since he joined Sunland and is now a director and general manager of Sunland.

Mr. Chen currently is a director of Beijing Hualu Baina Film & TV Co., Ltd. ( ), a company 
listed in Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock code: 300291).

Mr. Chen is also the investment manager of Power Surge Limited, a shareholder of the Company holding 116,908,755 
shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chen did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Zeng Jianzhong ( ), aged 53, is an independent non-executive Director. He joined the Group in September 2011. Mr. 
Zeng has been a director and the deputy general manager of SVXM Pharma Inc. ( ) since April 
2007, responsible for general management. Mr. Zeng has around 7 years of experience in the food and beverage industry 
as a deputy general manager of Xiamen Luquan Industries General Co. Ltd. ( ) (“Xiamen Luquan”) from 
October 2001 to March 2007, during which, he also acted as a director and/or a manager in various food and beverage 
companies including Swire Coca-Cola Beverages Xiamen Limited ( ), Xiamen Huari Foods 
Industrial Ltd ( ) and Xiamen Huarong Food Company Limited ( ), a subsidiary 
of Xiamen Luquan. Prior to those, he worked in Xiamen Sanjuan Rihua Company Limited ( ) (“Xiamen 
Sanjuan”), a company principally engaged in household chemical products business for around 16 years. His last position 
with Xiamen Sanjuan was the deputy general manager and as a director and the general manager of its subsidiary, Xiamen 
Xinsanyang Industrial Limited ( ). Mr. Zeng graduated from University of Xiamen ( ) majoring 
in electro chemistry in July 1982. In January 1997, he completed his postgraduate course in Business Administration in 
the Postgraduate College of Xiamen University. He also obtained a degree of master in Business Administration from the 
University of Northern Virginia in June 2003.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zeng did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.
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Zhuang Weidong ( ), aged 44, is an independent non-executive Director. He joined the Group in 2008. Mr. Zhuang 
graduated from the Agricultural College, Fujian ( ) in 1991 specializing in planting of fruit trees and has served as 
a senior orchard gardener in Quanzhou Agricultural Science Research Centre ( ) since 2003. He has 
received the Third Prize in the Technology Advance Award of Quanzhou City ( ) and the Second 
Prize in the Technology Award of Fujian Province ( ).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zhuang did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are 
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and 
other members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.

Zhuang Xueyuan ( ), aged 49, is an independent non-executive Director. He joined the Group in 2008. Mr. Zhuang is 
a senior accountant accredited by the Assessing Panel of High Level Duties of Professional Accountants of Fujian Province 
( ) in 2002. Mr. Zhuang had worked with Fujian Quanzhou Resources Group 
Company ( ) from 1982 to 2000 where he had served as, among other roles, the accountant of the 
finance department in charge of the accounting issues of the company. Through which, Mr. Zhuang has gained about 19 
years of experience in accounting and auditing. He has served as a manager and then as a director of State-owned Assets 
Investment Company Limited of Luo Jiang District of Quanzhou City ( ). He has also 
served as a director of Tang Xi Industrial Park Construction and Development Company Limited in Wan An Development 
Zone of Quanzhou City ( ), a supervisor of Luo Jiang Foreign Trade Company 
Limited ( ) and a legal representative of He Shi Chemist at Luo Jiang District of Quanzhou City (

).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zhuang did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are 
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and 
other members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Liao Yuang-whang ( ), aged 43, is the chief executive officer of the Company and is responsible for the day-to-day 
management of the Group’s operation and overseeing the Group’s business. He joined the Group as a non-executive 
Director in December 2011 and also acted as an advisor to the Board on corporate governance matters and Hong Kong 
capital market. He also acted as the chief executive officer of Manwell (China) Limited ( ), a subsidiary 
of the Company, with effect from 19 March 2012. Mr. Liao was an executive director and chief financial officer of China 
LotSynergy Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong (Stock code: 08161) and is currently a non-executive director 
of Samson Holding Ltd. (“Samson Holding”), a company listed in Hong Kong (Stock code: 00531). He had been the director 
of investor relations of Samson Holding and the vice-president and chief financial officer of a subsidiary of Samson Holding 
from September 2003 to September 2007. He had also been a director of Citicorp Capital Asia Limited from February 2002 
to May 2003. Mr. Liao obtained a Bachelor degree in Management from National Chiao Tung University in 1991 and a 
Degree of Master of Philosophy from University of Cambridge in 2000.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liao did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.



C H I N A  T I A N Y I  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D

1 4

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BO
ARD O

F DIRECTO
RS AND SENIO

R M
ANAG

EM
ENT

R
EP

O
R

T O
F TH

E D
IR

EC
TO

R
S

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
TE G

O
VER

N
A

N
C

E R
EP

O
R

T
IN

D
EP

EN
D

EN
T A

U
D

ITO
R

’S
 R

EP
O

R
T

Hu Xu ( ), aged 49, is the chief financial officer of the Group and is responsible for the financial and accounting 
management of the Group. He joined the Group in November 2004. Mr. Hu graduated from Jiang Xi Institute of Finance (

) in 1986 and received his bachelor’s degree in statistics. From 1986 to 1992, Mr. Hu taught at the Department 
of Management and Engineering of the Faculty of Building Materials of the Shanghai Tongji University (

). From 1995 to 1999, Mr. Hu worked in an auditing firm in Zhuhai. From 1999 to 2003, he was a vice 
general manager of an industry enterprise and was in charge of financial, legal and management works.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Hu did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.

Chan Ling ( ), aged 40, is the authorized representative and the company secretary of the Company. She joined the 
Group in March 2011. Ms. Chan is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the 
CPA Australia. She graduated from Macquarie University, Australia with a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce in Professional 
Accounting in 1999. Ms. Chan further obtained a Master’s degree from the University of Sydney in Commerce in Professional 
Accounting in 2002. Ms. Chan served as a financial controller and company secretary of China Photar Electronics Group 
Limited (stock code: 8220) (now known as Bingo Group Holdings Limited) and served as an accounting manager in China 
Travel Tours Transportation Development H.K. Ltd., a subsidiary of China Travel International Investment Hong Kong 
Limited (stock code: 308) from January 2009 to March 2011. Ms. Chan is currently a non-executive director of Jiangchen 
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1069).

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Chan did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.

Fu Lingling ( ), aged 49, is the sales and marketing controller of the Group. She is responsible for the sales and 
marketing of the products. She joined the Group in March 2002. Ms. Fu graduated from Guizhou University for Nationalities 
( ) and received her bachelor degree in history in 1990. From 1996 to 2002, Ms. Fu was a sales manager of a 
Shanghai company.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Fu did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.

Xu Min ( ), aged 44, is an engineer of the Group and is responsible for the production and technology of the Group. 
Mr. Xu joined the Group in July 2010. He graduated from Harbin Institute of Technology and obtained a bachelor degree in 
Engineering. From 1989 to 1996, he was engaged in gyropilot research at Sichuan Airlines Tianbu 7301 Research Centre 
( ) and had been granted the title of Intermediate Engineer. From 1997 to 2000, he worked 
for Hainan Oasis Food Company Limited ( ) as a deputy general manager and was in charge of 
processing and sales of tropical fruits. From 2000 to 2004, he worked as a factory deputy director in the Beijing Huiyuan 
Huairou Factory and was responsible for processing PET beverage. From 2004 to 2009, he worked for Zhejiang Huzhou 
Weiyuan Food and Beverage Company Limited ( ) as an executive vice director and was 
responsible for processing and sales of fruits and vegetables such as carrot, lime, etc.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Xu did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.
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Hong Lifa ( ), aged 30, is the head of the Research and Development Centre of the Group and is responsible for 
the product development of the Group. Mr. Hong joined the Group in March 2008. He graduated from the Fujian Normal 
University and is a specialist engineer in food chemistry. He is a QMS national-registered auditor. From March 2005 to 
February 2008, he worked as a quality engineer in Xiamen Huierkang Food Co., Ltd. ( ).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Hong did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.

Zhou Xianwen ( ), aged 41, is a senior management staff of the Group’s plantation base and is responsible for the 
management of cultivation at the plantation base. He joined the Group in January 2012. Mr. Zhou holds a master degree in 
Agronomy from Southwest China University. He began his career in August 1990 and joined the PRC Communist Party in 
May 1995. He is currently the head of Kai County Food Product Technology Promotion Centre ( ) as well 
as the head of Fruit Tree Breeding Centre ( ). He is a senior agronomist. He has been a member of the 12th 
and 13th Kai County Political Consultative Conference ( ), a member of the China Fruit Marketing Association 
( ) and executive member of Chongqing Citrus Industry Association ( ).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zhou did not hold any directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed 
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years or any other position with the Company and other 
members of the Group or other major appointments and professional qualifications.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting 
Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the 
consolidated financial statements. There was no significant change in nature of the Group’s activities during the Reporting 
Period.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the Reporting Period, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and the five largest suppliers 
in aggregate accounted for 9.5% and 22.3% respectively of the Group’s total purchases during the year. Revenue 
attributable to the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers in aggregate accounted for 31.1% and 70.2% 
respectively of the Group’s total revenue during the Reporting Period.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own 
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 16 
to the consolidated financial statements.

Land use rights
Details of movements in land use rights of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Intangible assets
Details of movements in intangible assets of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 20 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set out in note 35 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity.

As at 30 June 2012, the Company had reserves of RMB379,007,000 (2011: RMB156,520,000) available for distribution.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Sin Ke (Chairman)
Mr. San Kwan

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Liao Yuang-whang (appointed on 13 December 2011 and resigned on 16 March 2012)
Mr. Chen Qiuming (appointed on 5 July 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan
Mr. Zhuang Weidong
Mr. Tu Zongcai (resigned on 1 September 2011)
Mr. Zeng Jianzhong (appointed on 1 September 2011)

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), at each annual 
general meeting, at least one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the 
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject 
to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Sin Ke and Mr. San Kwan will 
retire from office as Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of 
the Company. Mr. Chen Qiuming, as appointed as an additional Director, will hold office as a Director until the forthcoming 
annual general meeting of the Company, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the meeting in accordance with 
Article 112 of the Articles of Association.

CHANGE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MEMBER OF THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Tu Zongcai resigned as an independent non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee (the “Audit 
Committee”) and the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) due to the need to focus on 
his other businesses on 1 September 2011, Mr. Zeng Jianzhong has been appointed and replaced Mr. Tu Zhongcai as 
an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee with effect 
from 1 September 2011. For details of the aforesaid appointment and resignation, please refer to the announcement of the 
Company dated 1 September 2011.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on pages 11 to 15 of this annual 
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the executive Director has entered into a service contract with the Company for a fixed term of 3 years unless 
terminated by not less than 3 months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

The non-executive Director has entered into a service contract with the Company for a fixed term of 2 years unless 
terminated by not less than 3 months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. Mr. Chen Qiuming will not be 
entitled to any remuneration.

The independent non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan, Mr. Zhuang Weidong and Mr. Zeng Jianzhong have 
respectively entered into a service contract with the Company, unless terminated by not less than 3 months’ notice in writing 
served by either party on the other. The contracts with Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan and Mr. Zhuang Weidong are for a term of 2 
years while the contract with Mr. Zeng Jianzhong is for a term of 1 year.
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None of the Directors, including those to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service contract 
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory 
compensation).

REMUNERATION POLICY
A remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) has been set up for reviewing the Group’s 
remuneration policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard 
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market practices.

In order to attract and retain high quality talents to ensure smooth operation and cater for the Group’s constant expansion, 
the Group offers competitive remuneration packages, with reference to market conditions and individual qualifications and 
experience.

During the Reporting Period, the employees’ remuneration of the Company was approximately RMB85,965,000 (2011: 
approximately RMB72,076,000).

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as incentive to the Directors and the eligible employees, details of the 
scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST REMUNERATION
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest remuneration are set out in notes 11 and 12 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES 
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS 
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 30 June 2012, interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any 
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) held by the 
Directors and chief executives of the Company which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant 
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which were taken or deemed to have 
under such provisions of the SFO) or have been entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 
of the SFO, or otherwise have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Appendix 10 – Model 
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) to the Listing Rules are as follows:

1. Interests and short position in the Shares

Name of Director 
and chief executive Capacity/Nature

No. of Shares 
held/interested in

Percentage of 
issued share capital 

of the Company 
(approximately)

Mr. Sin Ke (“Mr. Sin”) Interest of controlled 
corporation (Note 2)

555,608,145 (L) 45.96%

Mr. San Kwan 
(“Mr. San Kwan”)

Beneficial owner 2,600,000 (L) 0.21%

Mr. Chen Qiuming (“Mr. Chen”) Investment manager (Note 3) 116,908,755 (L) 9.67%

Mr. Liao Yuang-whang Beneficial owner 1,020,000 (L) 0.08%
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2. Interests and short position in the underlying Shares

Name of Director Capacity/Nature

No. of 
underlying Shares 
held/interested in

Percentage of 
issued share capital 

of the Company 
(approximately)

Mr. Sin Beneficial owner (Note 4) 6,000,000 (L) 0.50%

Mr. San Kwan Beneficial owner (Note 4) 5,400,000 (L) 0.45%

Notes:

1. The letters “L” denote a long position in the Shares/underlying Shares.

2. Mr. Sin beneficially owned 51% interest in Cheer Sky which beneficially owned 49% interest in Key Wise which in turn, held 555,608,145 
Shares. Therefore, Mr. Sin was deemed, or taken to be, interested in the 555,608,145 Shares held by Key Wise by virtue of the SFO.

3. Mr. Chen is the investment manager of Power Surge Limited which in turn, held 116,908,755 Shares. Therefore, Mr. Chen was deemed, or 
taken to be, interested in the 116,908,755 Shares held by Power Surge by virtue of the SFO.

4. Interests in the options granted on 18 November 2008 under the share option scheme of the Company. For further details, please refer to the 
below section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

3. Long position in the ordinary shares of associated corporations

Name of
Director

Name of 
the associated 
corporation Capacity/Nature

No. of 
shares held

Percentage of 
interest

Mr. Sin Key Wise Interest of controlled 
corporation and 
interest of spouse

100,000 100%

Note: Mr. Sin beneficially owned 51% interest in Cheer Sky which beneficially owned 49% interest in Key Wise. Ms. Hong Man Na, the spouse of 
Mr. Sin, beneficially owned 51% interest in Key Wise. Therefore, Mr. Sin was deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the shares in Key Wise 
which were owned by Cheer Sky and Ms. Hong Man Na under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2012, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests 
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to 
be entered in the register referred to therein, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the 
Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 30 June 2012, as far as is known to the Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the 
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company 
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the 
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Interests and short position in the Shares and underlying Shares

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature

No. of Shares/
underlying Shares
held/interested in

Approximate
percentage of 

issued share capital 
of the Company 

Key Wise Beneficial owner 555,608,145 (L) 45.96%

Cheer Sky Interest of controlled corporation 
(Note 2)

555,608,145 (L) 45.96%

Ms. Hong Man Na Interest of controlled corporation 
and interest of spouse (Note 3)

561,608,145 (L) 46.47%

China Investment Corporation Interest of controlled corporation 
(Note 4)

123,174,603 (L) 10.19%

CITIC Capital Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 
(Note 4)

123,174,603 (L) 10.19%

CITIC Group Corporation Interest of controlled  corporation 
(Note 4)

123,174,603 (L) 10.19%

CITIC Limited Interest of controlled corporation 
(Note 4)

123,174,603 (L) 10.19%

CITIC Capital China Access 
Fund Limited

Beneficial owner (Note 4) 123,174,603 (L) 10.19%

Credit Suisse Trust Limited Trustee (Note 5) 116,908,755 (L) 9.67%

Power Surge Limited Interest of controlled corporation 
(Note 5)

116,908,755 (L) 9.67%

Shi Zhengrong Founder of a discretionary trust 
(Note 5)

116,908,755 (L) 9.67%
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Notes:

1. The letters “L” denote a long position in the Shares/underlying Shares.

2. Cheer Sky beneficially owned 49% interest in Key Wise and Key Wise held 555,608,145 Shares. Therefore, Cheer Sky was deemed, or taken to be, 
interested in the 555,608,145 Shares held by Key Wise by virtue of the SFO.

3. Ms. Hong Man Na beneficially owned 51% interest in Key Wise. Mr. Sin held share options to subscribe for 6,000,000 Shares. Ms. Hong Man Na is the 
spouse of Mr. Sin. Therefore, Ms. Hong Man Na was deemed, or taken to be, interested in the 555,608,145 Shares held by Key Wise and the share 
options to subscribe for 6,000,000 Shares held by Mr. Sin by virtue of the SFO.

4. As known to the Directors after making reasonable enquiry, China Investment Corporation wholly owned CIC International Co., Limited which wholly 
owned Warlord Investment Corporation. CITIC Capital Holdings Limited was owned as to 40% by Warlord Investment Corporation and 55% by CITIC 
Group Corporation. CITIC Group Corporation owned CITIC Limited. CITIC Capital Holdings Limited wholly owned CITIC Capital Asset Management 
Limited which wholly owned CITIC Capital Investment Management (Cayman) Limited. CITIC Capital Investment Management (Cayman) Limited was 
the manager of CITIC Capital China Access Fund Limited. CITIC Capital China Access Fund Limited held the convertible bonds issued by the Company 
on 18 May 2012 which upon fully exercise of the conversion rights thereto (subject to adjustment), entitled CITIC Capital China Access Fund Limited to 
be allotted and issued with 123,174,603 Shares. Therefore, China Investment Corporation, CITIC Capital Holdings Limited, CITIC Group Corporation, 
CITIC Limited and CITIC Capital Investment Management (Cayman) Limited were deemed, or taken to be, interested in the 123,174,603 Shares in 
which CITIC Capital China Access Fund Limited was interested by virtue of the SFO.

5. Credit Suisse Trust Limited, as trustee of the trust of which Shi Zhengrong was the settlor, wholly owned Power Surge Limited which held 116,908,755 
Shares. Therefore, Credit Suisse Trust Limited and Shi Zhengrong were deemed, or taken to be, interested in the 116,908,755 Shares held by Power 
Surge Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, and as at 30 June 2012, the Directors were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or 
chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall 
to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the 
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, none of the Directors had a material interest in, 
either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries was a party subsisted during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Apart from the details as disclosed under the heading “Interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executives in 
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations” above, at no time during the 
Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company 
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by 
them; or was the Company and any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors, or their respective 
spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The related party transactions are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements. All the related party 
transactions did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ 
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS
During the Reporting Period, the Directors were not aware of any business or interest of the Directors or any substantial 
Shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules) and their respective associates that had competed or might compete with 
the business of the Group and any other conflicts of interests which any such person had or might have with the Group.

SECURED BANK LOANS
Particulars of secured bank loans the Group as at 30 June 2012 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
Particulars of the retirement schemes and contributions to defined contribution plans of the Group are set out in notes 10 
and 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent 
parties.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than 
the required standard set out in the Model Code. Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors have 
confirmed that they had complied with such code of conduct during the Reporting Period.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
As to attract and retain the eligible persons, to provide additional incentive to them and to promote the success of the 
business of the Group, the Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 7 June 2008 whereby 
the Board are authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe 
the Shares to, inter alia, any employees (full-time or part-time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors, 
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service providers of the Group or any substantial Shareholder. The 
Scheme became unconditional on 10 July 2008 and shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on 7 
June 2008, subject to the early termination provisions contained in the Scheme.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 7 days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The 
amount payable by each grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of options is HK$1.00. 
The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Scheme shall be a price at the 
discretion of the Board, provided that it shall be at the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the options; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as 
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of grant of 
the options; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares on the date of grant of the options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise 
of all outstanding options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company does not 
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue at the date when the Shares were first listed on the Stock Exchange. The Company may 
at any time refresh such limit, subject to in compliance with the Listing Rules, provided that the total number of Shares which 
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other 
share option scheme of the Company does not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. The total number of 
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted to any grantee (including both exercised and outstanding 
options) under the Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. The 
total number of securities available for issue under the Scheme as at the date of this report was 65,100,000 Shares which 
represented approximately 5.39% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report.

An option may be exercised at any time during a period which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to 
the provisions of early termination under the Scheme. There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it 
can be exercised under the Scheme.
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The status of the share options during the Reporting Period is as follows:

Category of 
participants

As at 
1 July 2011

Granted 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Exercised 
during the 
Reporting 

Period

Cancelled/
Lapsed during 
the Reporting 

Period

As at 
30 June 

2012

Date of 
grant of 
share options 

Exercise 
period of 
share options 

Exercise 
price of 

share 
options

Share price 
of the 

Company as 
at the date 
of grant of 

share options*
HK$ HK$

Director
Sin Ke 6,000,000 – – – 6,000,000 18 November 2008 10 years from 

the date of grant
0.75 0.75

San Kwan 5,400,000 – – – 5,400,000 18 November 2008 10 years from 
the date of grant

0.75 0.75

Employees** 9,300,000 – 6,600,000# – 2,700,000 18 November 2008 10 years from 
the date of grant

0.75 0.75

Employee*** 4,000,000 – 4,000,000## – – 11 October 2009 10 years from 
the date of grant

0.90 0.90

  

24,700,000 14,100,000  

* The share price of the Company as at the date of the grant of the share options was the closing price as quoted on the Stock Exchange of the trading 
day immediately prior to the date of the grant of the share options.

** There was a total of 9 employees of the Group being granted share options under the Scheme, all of them are not Directors, chief executive or 
substantial Shareholders or their respective associates.

*** The employee is not a Director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder or their respective associates.

# The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before dates of exercise was HK$1.54.

## The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before dates of exercise was HK$1.47.
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The following table lists the vesting period of the share options granted on 18 November 2008 under the Scheme:

Vesting period/Maximum percentage of 
options exercisable from the date of acceptance

Name

No. of 
share

options 0-12 months 13-24 months 25-36 months
After 

36 months

Directors Sin Ke 6,000,000 0.00% 33.33% 66.67% 100.00%
San Kwan 8,000,000 0.00% 30.00% 60.00% 100.00%

Employees 25,000,000 0.00% 31.20% 62.40% 100.00%     

39,000,000 0.00% 31.28% 62.56% 100.00%     

The following table lists the vesting period of the share options granted on 11 October 2009 under the Scheme:

No. of 
share

options 0-12 months 13-24 months 25-36 months
After 

36 months

Employee 10,000,000 30% 60% 100% 100%     

For further information of the share options, please refer to note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT
From information publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the 
Company’s total issued share capital are held by the public at all times during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this 
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association and the laws of Cayman Islands, which would 
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
From 1 July 2011 to 31 March 2012, save as disclosed below, the Board considered that the Company had complied with 
the code provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) – Appendix 14 to the Listing 
Rules.

Under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should 
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Sin Ke has been the chairman of the Board and an executive Director and had 
been the chief executive officer of the Company up to 19 March 2012. As such, this had deviated from code provision A.2.1 
of the Code.

In order to enhance corporate governance and enable the Company to comply with the Code, the Company separated the 
roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer. Mr. Sin has resigned as the chief executive officer of the Company on 
19 March 2012 and Mr. Liao replaced Mr. Sin to act as the chief executive officer of the Company on the same date. Mr. Sin 
remains an executive Director and the chairman of the Board.

The Code had been amended which took effect from 1 April 2012 (the “Revised Code”). The Company had complied with all 
the code provisions as set out in the Revised Code during the period from 1 April 2012 to 30 June 2012.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
For the purposes of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting 
to be held on 5 November 2012 (Monday), the register of members of the Company will be closed from 1 November 2012 
(Thursday) to 5 November 2012 (Monday), both dates inclusive. The latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 
will be at 4:30 p.m. on 31 October 2012 (Wednesday).

During the above closure periods, no transfer of Shares will be registered. To be eligible to attend and vote at the coming 
annual general meeting, all transfer of Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the 
Company’s Hong Kong Share Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M floor, Hopewell 
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than the dates and times stated above respectively.

AUDITORS
KPMG ceased to act as auditor of the Company with effect from 13 December 2011. KPMG confirmed that there are no 
matters in respect of the change of auditor that should be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited has replaced KPMG to act as auditor of the Company since 13 December 2011.

A resolution for appointment of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME
On 21 December 2011, a special resolution was passed by the Shareholders to approve the change of English name of 
the Company from “Tianyi Fruit Holdings Limited” to “China Tianyi Holdings Limited” and adopt the Chinese name “

” as its official Chinese name to replace “ ” (the “Change of Company Name”). 
The Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name was issued by the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands 
on 30 December 2011 regarding the Change of Company Name with effect from 21 December 2011. The Certificate of 
Registration of Change of Corporate Name of Non-Hong Kong Company was issued by the Registrar of Companies in Hong 
Kong on 17 February 2012 certifying that the new name of the Company has been registered in Hong Kong.

Following the Change of Company Name, the stock short name of the Company for trading in the Shares on the Stock 
Exchange has been changed from “TIANYI FRUIT” to “CHI TIANYI HOLD” in English and from “ ” to “ ” 
in Chinese with effect from 28 February 2012.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 16 November 2011, 21 December 2011 and 23 
February 2012 and the circular of the Company dated 28 November 2011.

On behalf of the Board

Sin Ke
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 September 2012
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The Group’s corporate governance practices are based on the code provisions as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing 
Rules.

From 1 July 2011 to 31 March 2012, save as disclosed in the section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” 
below, the Board considered that the Company had complied with the code provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate 
Governance Practices (the “Code”) – Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the 
“Listing Rules”).

The Code had been amended which took effect from 1 April 2012 (the “Revised Code”) and the Company had complied 
with all the code provisions as set out in the Revised Code during the period from 1 April 2012 to 30 June 2012.

The Group commits to continuously improving its corporate governance practices by periodic review to ensure that the 
Group continues to meet the requirements of the Code.

The key corporate governance practices of the Group are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition
The Board comprises two executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. 
During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Sin Ke (Chairman and president)
Mr. San Kwan

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Liao Yuang-whang (appointed on 13 December 2011 and resigned on 16 March 2012)
Mr. Chen Qiuming (appointed on 5 July 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan
Mr. Zhuang Weidong
Mr. Tu Zongcai (resigned on 1 September 2011)
Mr. Zeng Jianzhong (appointed on 1 September 2011)

The brief biographic details of and relationship between the existing Directors are set out in the section headed “Board of 
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 11 to 15.

During the Reporting Period, the Board maintained a high level of independence, with more than one-third of the Board 
comprised of independent non-executive Directors, who had exercised independent judgement. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications whenever the names of the Directors are 
disclosed.
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Mr. Liao Yuang-whang was appointed as the non-executive Director with effect from 13 December 2011. Mr. Liao Yuang-
whang has resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 16 March 2012. Mr. Liao Yuang-whang’s resignation as a 
non-executive Director was due to his appointment as the chief executive officer of the Company.

Mr. Zeng Jianzhong has replaced Mr. Tu Zongcai as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 September 
2011. Each of the independent non-executive Director namely, Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan, Mr. Zhuang Weidong and Mr. Zeng 
Jianzhong has respectively entered into a service contract with the Company, unless terminated by not less than 3 months’ 
notice in writing served by either party on the other. The contracts with Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan and Mr. Zhuang Weidong are 
for a term of two years while the contract with Mr. Zeng Jianzhong is for a term of one year. The independent non-executive 
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the general meetings of the Company in accordance with 
the Articles of Association.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their 
independence pursuant to the requirements under the Listing Rules and a confirmation from Mr. Zeng Jianzhong at the time 
of his appointment regarding his independence. The Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to be 
independent.

Board Meetings
The Board meets regularly. In addition to regular meetings, it meets as and when warranted by particular circumstances. 
During the Reporting Period, eleven Board meetings were held.

A record of the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and general meetings held during the Reporting Period are set 
out as follows:

Attendance/
Number of 

Board meetings

Attendance/
Number of

general meetings

Executive Directors

Mr. Sin Ke (Chairman) 9/11 2/2
Mr. San Kwan 9/11 0/2

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liao Yuang-whang (appointed on 13 December 2011
and resigned on 16 March 2012)

1/1 (Note) 0/0 (Note)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan 11/11 0/2
Mr. Zhuang Weidong 11/11 0/2
Mr. Tu Zongcai (resigned on 1 September 2011) 2/2 (Note) 0/0 (Note)
Mr. Zeng Jianzhong (appointed on 1 September 2011) 9/9 (Note) 0/2 (Note)

Note: Number of board meetings or general meetings held during the tenure of the Directors.
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Board Responsibilities and Delegation
The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group and be collectively responsible for promoting the success 
of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on formulating the Group’s overall 
strategies, authorising the annual development plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating performance; reviewing 
the effectiveness of the internal control system; supervising and managing management’s performance and determinating 
the corporate governance policy of the Group. The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration and 
operation of the Group to management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure that they 
accommodate the needs of the Group. The Board gives clear directions to the management as to the matters that must be 
approved by the Board before decisions are made on behalf of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is 
satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should 
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Sin Ke has been the chairman of the Board and an executive Director and had 
been the chief executive officer of the Company up to 19 March 2012. As such, this had deviated from code provision A.2.1 
of the Code.

The Board considered that Mr. Sin Ke has extensive experience in the FCOJ industry. He has the appropriate standing, 
management skills and business acumen that are prerequisites for assuming the two roles. The Board also believed that 
vesting both roles in Mr. Sin Ke provided the Group with strong and consistent leadership and, at the same time, allowed for 
continuous effective operations and development of the Group’s business.

In order to enhance corporate governance and enable the Company to comply with the Code, the Company separated the 
roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer.

Mr. Sin Ke has resigned as the chief executive officer of the Company and Mr. Liao Yuang-whang replaced Mr. Sin Ke to act 
as the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 19 March 2012. Mr. Sin Ke remains an executive Director and 
the chairman of the Board. The division of responsibilities between chairman and the chief executive officer has clearly been 
established and set out in writing.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 7 June 2008. The Nomination Committee has from time 
to time identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and make recommendations to the Board. The 
main consideration in selecting candidates for directorships is whether their characters, qualifications and experience are 
appropriate for the businesses of the Group.

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting, at least one-third of the 
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) 
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at 
least once every three years. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those appointed by the Board during the Reporting 
Period and those who have been the longest in office since their last election or re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Sin and Mr. 
San Kwan will retire from office as Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting of the Company. Mr. Chen Qiuming, as appointed as a non-executive Director, will hold office as a director 
until the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the meeting in 
accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association.
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The Company has bought a Directors and officers liability insurance in respect of legal action against the Directors and 
officers has been bought which is in compliance with code provision B.1.5 of the Revised Code.

INDUCTION AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Newly appointed Directors will receive guideline and reference materials to enable them to familiarise with the Group’s 
business operations and Board’s policies.

Mr. Sin Ke and Mr. San Kwan, being executive Directors, have attended various seminars and meetings such as Agriculture 
Commission of Kai County’s Seminar on the Development and Acquisition ), the 2011 Summit of 
China Fruit and Vegetable Juice Industry (2011 ) and the 2012 Meeting of China Fruit Juice (2012

) to develop and refresh their knowledge so as to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and 
relevant. Mr. Zhuang Weidong, Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan and Mr. Zeng Jianzhong, being independent non-executive Directors, 
have participated in continuous professional development programs provided by, among others, Chinese Association of 
Agricultural Science Societies , China Association for Science and Technology  and 
Xiamen National Accounting Institute . The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable 
training to all Directors for their continuous professional development. Each Director is briefed and updated from time to time 
to ensure that he is fully aware of his responsibilities under the Listing Rules and applicable legal and regulatory requirements 
and the governance policies of the Group. All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous professional 
development and are committed to participating any suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than 
the required standard set out in the Model Code. Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and the Directors have 
confirmed that they had complied with such code of conduct during the Reporting Period.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 7 June 2008, which comprises one executive Director and two 
independent non-executive Directors.

Under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, the Remuneration Committee should be chaired by an independent non-executive 
Directors. On 20 February 2012, the Board passed a resolution and appointed Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan, an independent non-
executive Director, to replace Mr. Sin Ke, an executive Director, to act as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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Members of the Remuneration Committee
Attendance/

Number of meetings

Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan (appointed as Chairman on 21 February 2012) 6/6
Mr. Sin Ke (as Chairman up to 21 February 2012) 6/6
Mr. Zhuang Weidong 6/6

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee include consulting the chairman of the Board about their 
remuneration proposals for other executive Directors, making recommendation to the Board on the Company’s remuneration 
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management and making recommendation to the Board on the remuneration 
packages of individual Directors’ and senior management. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee was 
revised on 20 February 2012 and is available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company to comply with 
the Revised Code. During the Reporting Period, among others, the Remuneration Committee had reviewed the Group’s 
remuneration policy and the terms of the executive Directors’ service contracts, made recommendation to the Board on 
the policy for the remuneration of non-executive Directors, independent non-executive Director and chief executive officer, 
assessing performance of non-executive Directors, independent non-executive Directors and chief executive officer and 
approving the terms of non-executive Directors’, independent non-executive Director’s and chief executive officer’s service 
contracts.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company established the Nomination Committee which comprises one executive Director and two independent non-
executive Directors.

Members of Nomination Committee
Attendance/

Number of meetings

Mr. Sin Ke (Chairman) 5/5
Mr. Zhuang Weidong 5/5
Mr. Tu Zongcai (resigned on 1 September 2011) 1/1 (Note)
Mr. Zeng Jianzhong (appointed on 1 September 2011) 4/4 (Note)

Note: Number of meetings held during the tenure of the Directors.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the 
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board member and 
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee is established with specific 
terms of references which deal clearly with the committee’s authority and duties and has been revised on 20 February 2012 
and is available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company to comply with the Revised Code. During the 
Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee also reviewed the structure and composition of the Board.

On 1 September 2011, the Nomination Committee nominated Mr. Zeng Jianzhong as an independent non-executive 
Director. On 13 December 2011 and 4 July 2012, the Nomination Committee nominated Mr. Liao Yuang-whang and Mr. 
Chen Qiuming as non-executive Directors respectively. New Directors are selected on the basis of their qualifications, skills 
and experience which the Nomination Committee considers will make a positive contribution to the performance of the 
Board.

Mr. Zeng Jianzhong has replaced Mr. Tu Zongcai as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 1 September 
2011.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee consisted of 3 independent non-executive Directors. One of the member 
of the Audit Committee, Mr. Tu Zongcai resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 1 September 2011 and Mr. 
Zeng Jianzhong was appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee to replace 
Mr. Tu Zongcai on the same date. A record of the members’ attendance of the Audit Committee’s meeting during the 
Reporting Period are set out as follows:

Members of Audit Committee
Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Zhuang Weidong 3/3
Mr. Tu Zongcai (resigned on 1 September 2011) 0/0 (Note)
Mr. Zeng Jianzhong (appointed on 1 September 2011) 3/3 (Note)

Note: Number of meetings held during the tenure of the Directors.

The roles and functions of the Audit Committee include reviewing the Company’s financial information, reviewing and 
supervising the Company’s financial reporting process and internal control procedures, nominating and monitoring external 
auditors and providing advice and comments to the Board. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee was revised 
on 20 February 2012 and is available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company to comply with the code 
provisions of the Revised Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee discussed and reviewed the interim and final results of the Group and 
certain other businesses. The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control was also discussed at the meetings.

For compliance with the recommended best practice under paragraph C.3.8 of the Revised Code, the Audit Committee 
approved a resolution for setting up an internal whistleblower policy and system on 20 February 2012. 

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and 
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the annual report and the final result of the 
Group for the Reporting Period. In the opinion of the Audit Committee, there are no material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement 
between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external 
auditors.

THE SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY MEETING
Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the requisition of 
one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of 
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the 
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any 
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If 
within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) 
may do so in the same manner.
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INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is committed to manage business risks and to maintain a proper and effective system of internal control to 
safeguard the Shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets. The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted 
annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control covering all controls, including financial, 
operational and compliance controls, and risk management processes. The Board is satisfied that the Group has fully 
complied with the Code and the Revised Code in respect of internal controls during the Reporting Period.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The Group’s external auditor is SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited. The remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor 
of the Group from 13 December 2011 (i.e. appointment date) up to 30 June 2012 comprised fees for audit services of 
RMB1,100,000 (2011: RMB1,800,000).

From 1 July 2011 to 12 December 2011, KPMG was the Group’s external auditor. No remuneration was paid or payable 
KPMG from 1 July 2011 to 12 December 2011.

During the Reporting Period, there was no non-audit service provided by KPMG and SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements for the Reporting Period. The auditor of 
the Company acknowledges its reporting responsibilities in the auditor’s report on the financial statements for the Reporting 
Period. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore the Directors continue to adopt the going 
concern approach in preparing the financial statements.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Ling has been the company secretary of the Company since 2 March 2011. Ms. Chan will take relevant 
professional training to comply with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the financial year commencing on 1 July 2012.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Save that a special resolution has been passed by the Shareholder on 21 December 2011 for the Change of Company 
Name, the Company did not make any changes in its memorandum and articles of association during the Reporting Period. 
For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 16 November 2011, 21 December 2011 and 23 
February 2012 and the circular of the Company dated 28 November 2011.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Information of the Group is delivered to the Shareholders through a number of channels, which include annual report, interim 
report, announcements and circulars at the corporate website (http://www.tianyi.com.hk/). The latest information of the 
Group together with the published documents are also available on the Company’s website. A shareholders communication 
policy was reviewed and updated on 20 February 2012 to comply with code provision E.1.4 of the Revised Code.
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Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing through the Investor Relations 
Department of the Company whose contact details are as follows:

China Tianyi Holdings Limited
Suite 2311, Tower One, Times Square,
1 Matheson Street, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong
Email: adminhk@hksummi.com
Tel No.: (852) 3163 1000
Fax No.: (852) 3163 1122

Company Secretarial Department and Investor Relations Department of the Company handle both telephone and written 
enquiries from Shareholders from time to time.

Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns will be forwarded to the Board and/or relevant Board Committees of the Company, 
where appropriate, to answer the Shareholders’ questions.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings by Shareholders
Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles of Association for including a resolution at an extraordinary 
general meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out above in the paragraph headed “The Shareholders’ Right to 
Convene an Extraordinary Meeting”.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Association, no person (other than a retiring Director) shall be eligible for election to 
the office of Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for election as 
a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the Head Office or 
at the Registration Office no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such 
election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during 
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least 7 days.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director is posted on the website of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT
Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying and complying with the Code and the Revised Code but 
also about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. The Company will continue to review and, 
where appropriate, improve the current practices on the basis of the experience, regulatory changes and developments. Any 
views and suggestions from the Shareholders to promote and improve the transparency are also welcomed.

On behalf of the Board

Sin Ke
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 September 2012
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA TIANYI HOLDINGS LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS TIANYI FRUIT HOLDINGS LIMITED)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Tianyi Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 38 to 107, which comprise the consolidated and Company’s 
statements of financial position as at 30 June 2012, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report our 
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagements, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of 
the Group as at 30 June 2012 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements 
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

OTHER MATTERS
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011 were audited by another auditor who expressed an 
unqualified opinion on those statements on 23 September 2011.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Pang Wai Hang
Practising Certificate Number: P05044

Hong Kong
12 September 2012
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2012 2011
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)    

Revenue 8 650,999 455,185
Cost of sales (403,059) (313,908)  

Gross profit 247,940 141,277
Gain from changes in fair value of biological assets 

less costs to sell 23 108,511 113,142
Other revenue 8 10,776 8,467
Distribution costs (10,565) (24,288)
Administrative expenses (68,096) (52,591)
Other operating expenses (11,727) (688)  

Profit from operations 276,839 185,319
Finance costs 9 (26,716) (19,576)  

Profit before tax 10 250,123 165,743
Income tax credit (expense) 13 139 (11,975)  

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 250,262 153,768  

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 1,318 320  

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to 
owners of the Company 251,580 154,088  

Earnings per share 15
– Basic (RMB) 0.22 0.15  

– Diluted (RMB) 0.22 0.15  
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2012 2011
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 235,088 158,897
Land use rights 17 18,384 11,030
Lease prepayments for orange plantations 18 343,094 123,657
Goodwill 19 56,696 –
Intangible assets 20 120,448 –
Pledged bank deposits 26 120,350 120,350  

894,060 413,934  

Current assets
Inventories 22 33,892 7,925
Biological assets 23 83,325 46,335
Lease prepayments for orange plantations 18 48,178 13,418
Trade receivables 24 102,385 43,765
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 25 13,102 6,514
Pledged bank deposits 26 2,550 2,550
Cash and cash equivalents 27 513,199 555,996  

796,631 676,503  

Current liabilities
Trade payables 28 7,947 8,210
Other payables and accruals 20,853 10,265
Secured bank loans 29 141,190 114,190
Convertible bonds 30 – 141,626
Income tax payable 142 –  

170,132 274,291  

Net current assets 626,499 402,212  

Total assets less current liabilities 1,520,559 816,146  

Non-current liabilities
Secured bank loans 29 2,550 5,100
Deferred income 31 17,700 20,060
Convertible bonds 30 181,731 –
Deferred tax liabilities 34 31,362 1,250  

233,343 26,410  

Net assets 1,287,216 789,736  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Continued)
AS AT 30 JUNE 2012

2012 2011
Note RMB’000 RMB’000    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 35 10,501 8,971
Reserves 1,276,715 780,765  

Total equity 1,287,216 789,736  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 38 to 107 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors 
on 12 September 2012 and are signed on its behalf by:

Sin Ke San Kwan
Chairman Director
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2012 2011
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 57 67
Investments in subsidiaries 21 275,447 48,995
Amounts due from subsidiaries 41 313,791 143,394  

589,295 192,456  

Current assets
Other receivables 25 2,821 325
Amounts due from subsidiaries 41 – 129,432
Cash and cash equivalents 27 3,494 11,046  

6,315 140,803  

Current liabilities
Other payables 2,575 2,065
Convertible bonds 30 – 141,626  

2,575 143,691  

Net current assets (liabilities) 3,740 (2,888)  

Total assets less current liabilities 593,035 189,568  

Non-current liabilities
Convertible bonds 30 181,731 –
Amounts due to subsidiaries 41 11,355 11,355  

193,086 11,355  

Net assets 399,949 178,213  
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
AS AT 30 JUNE 2012

2012 2011
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 35 10,501 8,971
Reserves 36 389,448 169,242  

Total equity 399,949 178,213  

Sin Ke San Kwan
Chairman Director
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Attributable to owners of the Company 
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Capital 
reserve

Statutory 
reserves

Exchange 
reserve

Retained 
profits Total

(Note 36(a)) (Note 36(b)) (Note 36(c)) (Note 36(d))
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 July 2010 8,822 149,444 63,098 34,350 11 378,010 633,735
Profit for the year – – – – – 153,768 153,768
Other comprehensive income for 

the year
– Exchange differences arising on 

translation of foreign operations – – – – 320 – 320       

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – 320 153,768 154,088

Dividend recognised as distribution 
(note 14) – – – – – (13,050) (13,050)

Appropriation to statutory reserves – – – 4,460 – (4,460) –
Shares issued under share option 

scheme (note 35(b)) 149 16,517 (4,684) – – – 11,982
Recognition of equity-settled share 

based payments (note 32) – – 2,981 – – – 2,981       

At 30 June 2011 and 1 July 2011 8,971 165,961 61,395 38,810 331 514,268 789,736
Profit for the year – – – – – 250,262 250,262
Other comprehensive income for 

the year
– Exchange differences arising on 

translation of foreign operations – – – – 1,318 – 1,318       

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – 1,318 250,262 251,580

Recognition of equity component of 
convertible bonds (note 30) – – 11,484 – – – 11,484

Transaction costs attributable to 
issue of convertible bonds (note 30) – – (10) – – – (10)

Redemption of convertible bonds 
(note 30) – – (12,285) – – 12,285 –

Shares issued under share option 
scheme (note 35(b)) 86 10,215 (3,352) – – – 6,949

Shares issued upon acquisition of 
subsidiaries (note 35(a)) 1,444 225,304 – – – – 226,748

Recognition of equity-settled share 
based payments (note 32) – – 729 – – – 729       

At 30 June 2012 10,501 401,480 57,961 38,810 1,649 776,815 1,287,216       
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2012 2011
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 250,123 165,743
Adjustments for:

Gain from changes in fair value of 
biological assets less costs to sell (108,511) (113,142)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,284 14,133
Amortisation of land use rights 357 251
Amortisation of deferred income (2,360) (2,360)
Amortisation of intangible assets 5,602 –
Write-off of inventories 4,241 4,010
Impairment loss of other receivables – indemnification assets 10,325 –
Loss on disposal of property plant and equipment 413 –
Finance costs 26,716 19,576
Loss on disposal of held-for-trading investments 425 –
Bank interest income (7,921) (4,609)
Equity-settled share based payment expenses 729 2,981  

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 198,423 86,583
Decrease in biological assets 71,521 109,026
Increase in other payables and accruals 9,297 –
Decrease in trade payables (263) (2,357)
Increase in other receivables, deposits and prepayments (1,626) (713)
Increase in inventories (30,189) (7,401)
Increase in trade receivables (58,620) (7,319)
(Increase) decrease in lease prepayments for 

orange plantations (254,197) 4,368  

Cash (used in) generated from operations (65,654) 182,187
Income tax paid (11,445) (16,739)  

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (77,099) 165,448  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries 40 16,776 –
Bank interest received 3,381 1,830
Proceeds from disposal of held-for-trading investments 1,367 –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 24 –
Purchase of held-for-trading investments (1,792) –
Purchase of items of land use rights (2,191) –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (35,622) (34,106)
Decrease in time deposits – 2,650
Increase in pledged bank deposits – (117,800)  

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (18,057) (147,426)  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds 189,632 –
Interest paid (8,662) (4,244)
Transaction costs on issue of convertible bonds (163) –
New secured bank loans raised 576,000 253,832
Repayments of secured bank loans (557,550) (139,642)
Proceeds on issue of shares under share option scheme 6,949 11,982
Payment on redemption of convertible bonds (153,795) –
Dividend paid – (13,050)  

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 52,411 108,878  

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (42,745) 126,900

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 555,996 429,074

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (52) 22  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR, 
represented by bank balances and cash 513,199 555,996  
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1. GENERAL
China Tianyi Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company 
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate 
Information” section to the Annual Report. In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), its parent 
and ultimate holding company is Key Wise Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the 
“BVI”). 

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in cultivation and 
selling of fresh oranges, manufacturing and selling of frozen concentrated orange juice (“FCOJ”) and its related 
products.

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) while that for the major subsidiaries in the People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”) is Reminbi (“RMB”). As the operation of the Group is mainly held in the PRC, the 
Directors consider that it is appropriate to present the consolidated financial statements in RMB.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting held on 21 December 2011, the English 
name of the Company was changed from “Tianyi Fruit Holdings Limited” to “China Tianyi Holdings Limited” and 
the Chinese name of the Company was changed from “天溢果業控股有限公司” to “中國天溢控股有限公司”.  The 
“Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name” was issued by the Registrar of Company in the Cayman Islands on 
30 December 2011.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)
In the current year, the Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs issued by the International 
Accounting Standard Board (the “IASB”).

Amendments to IFRSs Improvements to IFRSs issued in 2010
Amendments to IFRS 1 Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time 

Adopters
Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets
International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 24 

(as revised in 2009)
Related Party Disclosures

Amendments to International Financial Reporting 
Interpretation Committee (“IFRIC”) 
– Interpretation (“Int”) 14

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement

Except as explained below, the adoption of these new and revised IFRSs in the current year has had no material 
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures 
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (as part of Improvements to IFRSs 
issued in 2010)
The amendments to IAS 1 clarify that an entity may choose to disclose an analysis of other comprehensive income 
by item in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements. In the current year, for each 
component of equity, the Group has chosen to present such an analysis in the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity. Such amendments have been applied retrospectively, and hence the disclosures in these consolidated 
financial statements have been modified to reflect the change.

The Group has not early adopted the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle3

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRSs – Government Loans3

Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities3

Mandatory Effective Date of IFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures5

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments5

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements3

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements3

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities3

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement3

Amendments to IFRS 10, 
IFRS 11 and IFRS 12

Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint Arrangements and Disclosure 
of Interests in Other Entities: Transition Guidance3

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income2

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax – Recovery of Underlying Assets1

IAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits3

IAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements3

IAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures3

Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities4

IFRIC – Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 
9 amended in 2010 includes the requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for 
derecognition.

Key requirements of IFRS 9 are described as follows:

• IFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, 
debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash 
flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. All other 
debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting 
periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes 
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only 
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

• The most significant effect of IFRS 9 regarding the classification and measurement of financial liabilities relates 
to the presentation of changes in the fair value of a financial liability (designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss) attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability. Specifically, under IFRS 9, for financial liabilities 
that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the amount of change in the fair value of the financial 
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive 
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive 
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to 
a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under IAS 39, the 
entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair value through profit or 
loss was presented in profit or loss.

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of IFRS 9 in the future may have significant impact on amounts reported 
in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities. Regarding the Group’s financial assets and 
financial liabilities, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been 
completed.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and disclosures was 
issued, including IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and IAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are described below.

IFRS 10 replaces the parts of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that deal with consolidated 
financial statements and Standing Interpretation Committee (“SIC”) – Int 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 
IFRS 10 includes a new definition of control that contains three elements: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure, or 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to use its power over the investee 
to affect the amount of the investor’s returns. Extensive guidance has been added in IFRS 10 to deal with complex 
scenarios.

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC – Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary 
Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which two or more parties have joint 
control should be classified. Under IFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint operations or joint ventures, 
depending on the rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under IAS 31, there are three 
types of joint arrangements: jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled operations.

In addition, joint ventures under IFRS 11 are required to be accounted for using the equity method of accounting, 
whereas jointly controlled entities under IAS 31 can be accounted for using the equity method of accounting or 
proportionate accounting.

IFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12 are more 
extensive than those in the current standards.

These five standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier application is 
permitted provided that all of these five standards are applied early at the same time.

The Directors anticipate that these five standards will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
for the annual period beginning 1 July 2013. The application of these five standards may have significant impact 
on amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. The application of IFRS 10 may result in the Group 
no longer consolidating some of its investees, and consolidating investees that were not previously consolidated. 
However, the Directors have not yet performed a detailed analysis of the impact of the application of these standards 
and hence have not yet quantified the extent of the impact.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value 
measurements. The standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and requires 
disclosures about fair value measurements. The scope of IFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both financial instrument 
items and non-financial instrument items for which other IFRSs require or permit fair value measurements and 
disclosures about fair value measurements, except in specified circumstances. In general, the disclosure requirements 
in IFRS 13 are more extensive than those in the current standards. For example, quantitative and qualitative 
disclosures based on the three-level fair value hierarchy currently required for financial instruments only under IFRS 7 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures will be extended by IFRS 13 to cover all assets and liabilities within its scope.

IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The Directors anticipate that IFRS 13 will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual 
period beginning 1 July 2013 and that the application of the new standard may affect the amounts reported in the 
consolidated financial statements and result in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
The amendments to IAS 1 retain the option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income in either 
a single statement or in two separate but consecutive statements. However, the amendments to IAS 1 require 
additional disclosures to be made in the other comprehensive income section such that items of other comprehensive 
income are grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b) 
items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of 
other comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same basis. The amendments to IAS 1 are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

The presentation of items of other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly when the amendments are 
applied in the future accounting periods.

Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities and amendments to 
IFRS 7 Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The amendments to IAS 32 clarify existing application issues relating to the offsetting requirements. Specifically, the 
amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and “simultaneous realisation 
and settlement”.

The amendments to IFRS 7 require entities to disclose information about rights of offset and related arrangements 
(such as collateral posting requirements) for financial instruments under an enforceable master netting agreement or 
similar arrangement.

The amended offsetting disclosures are required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and interim 
periods within those annual periods. The disclosures should also be provided retrospectively for all comparative 
periods. However, the amendments to IAS 32 are not effective until annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2014, with retrospective application required.

Other than disclosed above, the Directors anticipate that the application of other new and revised standards, 
amendments and interpretations will have no material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, 
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for biological assets 
and financial instruments that are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set out below. 
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by 
the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any identified impairment loss on the statement of financial position 
of the Company.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values 
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquire and the 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquire. Acquisition-related costs are generally 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 
over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 
re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the 
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, if any, and 
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently 
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For the goodwill arriving on an acquisition in a reporting 
period, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of 
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to 
the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment 
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination 
of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable 
for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all 
the following conditions are satisfied:

– the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

– the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership 
nor effective control over the goods sold;

– the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

– it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

– the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a 
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net 
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or for 
administrative purposes, other than construction in progress, are stated in the consolidated and Company’s 
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, other than 
construction in progress, less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment in the course of construction for its own use 
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional 
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. 
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed 
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences 
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the leases transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred.

Leasehold land and building
When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each element as 
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both 
elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.

Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the 
land and the building elements in proportion to relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and 
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted 
for as an operating lease is presented as “land use right” in the consolidated statement of financial position and is 
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between 
the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as 
property, plant and equipment.



C H I N A  T I A N Y I  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D

5 4

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

C
O

N
S

O
LID

A
TED

 S
TA

TEM
EN

T O
F C

A
S

H
 FLO

W
S

N
O

TES
 TO

 TH
E FIN

A
N

C
IA

L S
TA

TEM
EN

TS
FIVE Y

EA
R

S
 FIN

A
N

C
IA

L S
U

M
M

A
R

Y

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on 
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the 
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under 
the heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Biological assets
Biological assets comprise oranges before harvested in leased orange farms and are classified as current assets due 
to short harvesting period.

Biological assets are stated at fair value less costs to sell from initial measurement up to the point of harvest, 
except where fair value cannot be measured reliably due to unavailability of market-determined prices and no 
reliable alternative estimates exist to determine fair value in which case the assets are held at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Once the fair value becomes reliably measurable, the biological assets are 
measured at fair value less costs to sell. Where assets are held at fair value, changes in fair value are taken to the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Costs to sell include all costs that would be necessary to sell the 
assets, excluding costs necessary to get the assets to market.

After harvesting, oranges are transferred to inventories as agricultural produce at their deemed cost which is fair value 
at the point of harvest less costs to sell. Fair value at the point of harvest is based on the selling prices for similar 
oranges prevailing in the market as at or close to the harvest dates.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government 
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets 
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss 
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose 
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have 
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which 
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, 
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit 
or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in 
which case, the current and the deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity 
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax 
effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is 
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average 
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statements of financial position when a group entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair 
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets comprise financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and loans and 
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the 
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on 
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at FVTPL represent held-for-trading investments.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

• on initial recognition, it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement 
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets and is included in other revenue in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables, 
deposits paid, pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from subsidiaries) are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on 
impairment of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial assets have been affected.

For all financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

– significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

– breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

– it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

– disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade and other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries, assets 
that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. 
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting 
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit period, observable changes 
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade and other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries, where the carrying amount is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in 
profit or loss. When trade and other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries are considered uncollectible, they 
are written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to 
profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the 
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all 
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received net direct issue 
costs.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables and accruals, secured bank loans, convertible bonds and 
amounts due to subsidiaries are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both the liability and conversion option components are 
classified separately into respective items on initial recognition in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled 
by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity 
instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is determined using the prevailing market interest of 
similar non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible bonds and 
the fair value assigned to the liability component, representing the conversion option for the holder to convert the 
bonds into equity, is included in equity (capital reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. The equity component, representing the option to convert the liability component into ordinary 
shares of the Company, will remain in capital reserve until the embedded option is exercised (in which case the 
balance stated in capital reserve will be transferred to share premium). Where the option remains unexercised at the 
expiry date, the balance stated in capital reserve will be released to the retained profits. No gain or loss is recognised 
in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components 
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component are charged 
directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the 
liability portion and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss immediately.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement 
and recognises an associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a 
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity-settled share based payment transactions
The Company has issued equity-settled share based payments to certain employees. The fair value of services 
received, which is determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date, is expensed 
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity (capital reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to 
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised 
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to 
capital reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in capital reserve will be transferred to share 
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the 
amount previously recognised in capital reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, including 
term deposits, which have original maturity within three months and are not restricted as to use. For the purpose 
of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposit as 
defined above.

Impairment losses on tangible assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (see accounting 
policy in respect of goodwill above)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, 
if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis 
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise 
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation 
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment losses on tangible assets and intangible assets other than goodwill (see accounting 
policy in respect of goodwill above) (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are described in note 3, the Directors are required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations that the Directors have made in 
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Legal title of buildings
Despite the Group has paid the full purchase consideration for the buildings, formal titles of certain of the Group’s 
rights to the use of the buildings were not yet granted from the relevant government authorities as stated in note 16. 
In the opinion of the Directors, the absence of formal title to these buildings does not impair the value of the relevant 
properties to the Group.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash generating units to 
which goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows 
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. 
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 30 June 2012, 
the carrying amount of goodwill was approximately RMB56,696,000. (2011: nil). Details of the recoverable amount 
and calculation are disclosed in note 19. During the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011, no impairment loss was 
recognised.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
Determining whether property, plant and equipment are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of 
the property, plant and equipment. Such estimation is based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty 
and might materially differ from the actual results. As at 30 June 2012, the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment was approximately RMB235,088,000 (2011: RMB158,897,000). During the years ended 30 June 2012 
and 2011, no impairment loss was recognised.

Amortisation and estimated impairment of intangible assets
The Directors determines the estimated useful lives and related amortisation charges for intangible assets (customer 
list and customer relationship). This estimate is based on the estimated churn periods of the customer base and 
experience in similar business. The Directors will increase the amortisation charge where useful lives are less than 
previously estimated lives.

Customer list and customer relationships are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts of customer list and customer 
relationship have been determined based on the value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use calculation requires the 
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the intangible assets (customer list and customer 
relationship) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows 
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 30 June 2012, the carrying amount of intangible 
assets amounted to approximately RMB120,448,000 (2011: nil). During the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011, no 
impairment loss was recognised.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, 
after taking into account the estimated residual values. The management reviews the estimated useful lives and 
the residual values of the assets regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation expense to be recorded 
during any reporting period. The determination of the useful lives and the residual values are based on the historical 
experience with similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological changes. The depreciation expense 
for future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes from previous estimates.

During the year, depreciation of property, plant and equipment amounting to approximately RMB18,284,000 (2011: 
RMB14,133,000) was recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the carrying value of 
property, plant and equipment was approximately RMB235,088,000 (2011: RMB158,897,000) as at 30 June 2012.

Net realisable value of inventories
The management of the Group reviews the inventories listing on a product-by-product basis at the end of the 
reporting period and the carrying amount of inventories is approximately RMB33,892,000 (2011: RMB7,925,000) 
as at 30 June 2012. The management estimates the net realisable value for such items based primarily on the latest 
invoice prices and current market conditions and the historical experience of manufacturing and selling products of 
similar nature.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
The Directors estimate impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts resulting from inability of the customers to make 
the required payments. The Directors estimate the impairment of trade receivables based on the ageing of the trade 
receivable balance, customer credit-worthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the financial condition of the 
customers were to deteriorate, actual write-offs would be higher than estimated. As at 30 June 2012, the carrying 
amount of trade receivables amounted to approximately RMB102,385,000 (2011: RMB43,765,000). During the years 
ended 30 June 2012 and 2011, no impairment loss was provided.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries
The policy for making impairment loss on other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries of the Group and the 
Company is based on the evaluation of collectability of accounts and on management’s judgement. A considerable 
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current 
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each debtor.

As at 30 June 2012, the Group’s and the Company’s net carrying amount of other receivables amounted to 
approximately RMB10,476,000 (2011: RMB3,225,000) and RMB2,821,000 (2011: RMB325,000) respectively, net of 
impairment loss of RMB10,325,000 (2011: nil) and nil (2011: nil) respectively.

As at 30 June 2012, the Company’s carrying amount of amounts due from subsidiaries amounted to approximately 
RMB313,791,000 (2011: RMB272,826,000). During the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011, no impairment loss 
was provided.

Estimated impairment of investments in subsidiaries
Determining whether the Company’s investments in subsidiaries are impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-
use of the investments in subsidiaries. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash 
flows expected to arise from the investments in subsidiaries and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the 
present value. Where there are indicators for impairment, the carrying amount of the investments in the subsidiaries 
in the Company’s separate financial statements will be reviewed for impairment. The recoverable amount has been 
determined based on the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use calculations.

As at 30 June 2012, the carrying amount of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries amounted to approximately 
RMB275,447,000 (2011: RMB48,995,000). During the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011, no impairment loss was 
recognised.

Fair value of biological assets and agricultural produce
All oranges are harvested shortly before the calendar year end. At each calendar year end date, little biological 
transformation for the following year’s harvest has taken place and therefore biological assets are stated at cost as 
the Directors consider that their fair value cannot be measured reliably and no reliable alternative estimates exist to 
determine the fair value.

In addition, for the reasons set out in note 23, the Directors consider that there is no active market for the biological 
assets at the end of June each year and their fair value cannot be measured reliably and no reliable alternative estimates 
exist to determine fair value. Therefore the biological assets at the end of June continue to be stated at cost less 
impairment (if any).

Once the fair value of the Group’s biological assets becomes reliably measurable, they are then measured at their fair 
value less costs to sell.

The Group’s agricultural produce are measured at fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest. The Directors are 
of the view that there is no quoted price in the market and the fair value is therefore determined based on the most 
recent market price as at or close to the harvest dates in the local area. As at 30 June 2012, the carrying amount of 
biological assets amounted to approximately RMB83,325,000 (2011: RMB46,335,000). During the years ended 30 
June 2012 and 2011, no impairment loss was provided.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Income tax
The Group operates in the agricultural industry in the PRC, in which income tax exemptions are granted to certain 
subsidiaries of the Group. There are certain agricultural transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination may be uncertain. The Group recognises income tax expense and related liabilities for anticipated 
tax issues based on estimates that current tax exemption will be granted to the Group on an ongoing basis. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Fair value of embedded early redemption option of the convertible bonds
The Directors use their judgements in selecting an appropriate valuation technique to determine fair value of 
embedded early redemption option of the convertible bonds which are not quoted in an active market. Valuation 
techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied. The fair values of these derivative financial liabilities 
are determined at the end of each reporting period with movement in fair value recognised in profit or loss. In estimating 
the fair value of the derivative financial liabilities, the Group uses valuation performed by independent valuers which 
is based on various inputs and estimates with reference to quoted market rates and adjusted for specific features of 
the instrument. If the inputs and estimates applied in the model are different, the carrying amount of these derivative 
financial liabilities may change. As at 30 June 2012, the carrying amount of embedded early redemption option of the 
convertible bonds amounted to nil (2011: nil).

5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group and the Company manage the capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through pricing products and services commensurately 
with the level of risk and securing access to finance at a reasonable cost. The overall strategy of the Group and the 
Company remained unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group and the Company consists of secured bank loans, convertible bonds, cash and 
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the 
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the 
Group and the Company will balance its overall capital structure through the issue of new shares as well as the issue 
of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
a. Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities as recognised 
at 30 June 2012 and 2011 were categorised as follows:

The Group 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000   

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 748,960 725,886  

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost 354,271 279,391  

The Company 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000   

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 320,106 284,197  

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost 195,661 155,046  

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s and the Company’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, pledged 
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from subsidiaries, trade and other payables and 
accruals, secured bank loans, convertible bonds and amounts due to subsidiaries. Details of these financial 
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the 
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these 
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Foreign currency risk
The companies of the Group mainly operated in their local jurisdiction with most of the transactions settled 
in their functional currencies of the operations and did not have significant exposure to risk resulting from 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging 
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant 
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk
The Group and the Company are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank loans 
and bank balances. The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank 
deposits, convertible bonds and fixed-rate bank loans. Details of the pledged bank deposits, bank balances, 
secured bank loans and convertible bonds are disclosed in note 26, 27, 29 and 30, respectively. It is the 
Group’s policy to keep certain of its secured bank loans at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair 
value interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest 
rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

Sensitivity analysis
It is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables 
held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by approximately 
RMB3,746,000 (2011: RMB4,418,000) for the year. This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to 
interest rates on its variable-rate bank loans and bank balances.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative 
instruments. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the 
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. The 100 basis points (2011: 100 basis points) increase 
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents 
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on 
the same basis for the year ended 30 June 2011.

Credit risk
As at 30 June 2012 and 2011, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will 
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising 
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated and 
Company’s statement of financial position.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. Management has a credit policy 
in place and the exposures to the credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring 
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments 
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customers as well as 
pertaining to the economic environment in which the customers operate. Trade receivables are due within 90 
days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. At 
the end of the reporting period, 23% (2011: 24%) and 72% (2011: 68%) of the total trade receivables was due 
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers, respectively within production of processed 
fruits segment. The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the PRC, which 
accounted for 100% (2011: 100%) of the total receivables at the end of the reporting period.

The Company is not exposed to significant credit risk as its receivable is due from subsidiaries where the 
Directors consider the credit risk as low.

The credit risk on the Group and the Company’s liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks 
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group regularly monitors its liquidity requirements and its 
compliance with lending covenants and ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity 
requirements in the short and long term.

The following table details the Group’s and the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-
derivative financial liabilities and based on the agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based 
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group and the 
Company can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that 
interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at the end of the 
reporting period.

The Group

Less than 
1 year or 

On demand
Between 1

 and 2 years
Between 2 

and 3 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows
Carrying 
amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 30 June 2012

Trade payables 7,947 – – 7,947 7,947
Other payables and 

accruals 20,853 – – 20,853 20,853
Secured bank loans 146,170 2,550 – 148,720 143,740
Convertible bonds 6,676 6,676 269,364 282,716 181,731     

181,646 9,226 269,364 460,236 354,271     

The Group

Less than 
1 year or 

On demand
Between 1

 and 2 years
Between 2 

and 3 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows
Carrying 
amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 30 June 2011

Trade payables 8,210 – – 8,210 8,210
Other payables and 

accruals 10,265 – – 10,265 10,265
Secured bank loans 116,305 2,550 2,550 121,405 119,290
Convertible bonds 156,613 – – 156,613 141,626     

291,393 2,550 2,550 296,493 279,391     
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Company

Less than 
1 year or 

On demand
Between 1 

and 2 years
Between 2 

and 3 years
More than 

3 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows
Carrying 
amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 30 June 2012

Other payables 2,575 – – – 2,575 2,575
Convertible bonds – – 269,682 – 269,682 181,731
Amounts due to 

subsidiaries – – – 11,355 11,355 11,355      

2,575 – 269,682 11,355 283,612 195,661      

The Company

Less than 
1 year or 

On demand
Between 1 

and 2 years
Between 2 

and 3 years
More than 

3 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows
Carrying 
amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 30 June 2011

Other payables 2,065 – – – 2,065 2,065
Convertible bonds 156,613 – – – 156,613 141,626
Amounts due to 

subsidiaries – – – 11,355 11,355 11,355      

158,678 – – 11,355 170,033 155,046      
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Business risk
The Group’s revenue depends significantly on the ability to harvest oranges at adequate levels. The ability 
to harvest oranges in the Group’s leased orange farms and the growth of the oranges may be affected by 
unfavourable local weather conditions and natural disasters. Weather conditions such as floods, droughts, 
cyclones and windstorms and natural disasters such as earthquakes, fire, disease, insect infestation and pests 
are examples of such events. The occurrence of severe weather conditions or natural disasters may diminish 
the supply of oranges available for harvesting in the Group’s leased orange farms, which in turn may have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s ability to produce the products in sufficient quantities and quality. The 
Group has procedures in place aimed at monitoring and mitigating exposures to diseases, including regular 
farms inspections and pesticide prevention.

The Group has certain concentration risk of sales to its current major customers. The Group’s revenue 
from the largest and the five largest customers amounted to approximately RMB202,422,000 (2011: 
RMB106,774,000) and RMB461,098,000 (2011: RMB230,796,000), which accounted for approximately 31% 
(2011: 24%) and 70% (2011: 51%) of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 
2011, respectively. The Group has no long-term contractual arrangement with these customers and there 
is no assurance that these major customers will continue their business dealings with the Group or that the 
revenue generated from dealing with these customers will increase or be maintained in the future. In the event 
that these customers ceased to purchase products from the Group and the Group could not secure orders 
from other customers, the Group’s turnover and profitability would be adversely affected.

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from changes in prices of oranges, concentrated orange 
juice and the change in cost and supply of fertiliser and pesticides, all of which are determined by constantly 
changing market forces of supply and demand, and other factors. The other factors include environmental 
regulations, weather conditions and diseases. The Group has little or no control over these conditions and 
factors. The Directors manage the risk by operating in several major plantation areas so as to reduce the 
concentration of sources of oranges.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

c. Fair values
The Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value represent the bondholders’ redemption options (note 
30). Given the Directors consider the possibility of the occurrence of the events of change of control and 
delisting during both years is nil, the fair value of the bondholders’ redemption options is considered as nil as 
at 30 June 2011, 18 May 2012 and 30 June 2012.

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market 
transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

The Directors consider the carrying amounts of the current financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised 
cost in the consolidated and Company’s statement of financial position approximate their fair values due to 
their immediate or short-term maturities.

The carrying amounts of non-current pledged bank deposits, secured bank loans and convertible bonds 
approximate their fair values based on the respective interest rates currently available for similar financial assets 
and liabilities.

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group determines its operating segments based on the information reported to the chief operating decision 
maker, being the most senior executive management of the Group, for making strategic decisions and assessing the 
performance of each operating segment. The segments are managed separately as each operating segment offers 
different products which require different production information to formulate different strategies. In prior years, the 
Group manages its business by product lines. During the year ended 30 June 2012, the Group has reassessed the 
segment reporting information and rearranged the segments reporting structure by operating activities for the reasons 
that the revised segment information would be more aligned with the internal financial information reported to the 
chief operating decision maker for resources allocation. For the year ended 30 June 2012, the operating segments 
are organised into two segments (2011: six). The corresponding items of segment information for prior periods have 
been restated on a reasonable basis of allocations. The Group’s reportable and operating segments are organised as 
follows:

1. Plantation of agricultural produce – planting, cultivation and sale of fresh oranges

2. Production of processed fruits – manufacture and sale of FCOJ and its related products
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets and liabilities by reportable and operating 
segment.

Plantation of 
agricultural 

produce

Production of 
processed 

fruits Consolidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 30 June 2012
Segment revenue

Sales to external customers 139,221 511,778 650,999
Intersegment sales 38,810 – 38,810   

Segment revenue 178,031 511,778 689,809  

Elimination (38,810) 

Consolidated revenue 650,999 

Segment results 80,901 197,915 278,816  

Unallocated gains 8,346
Corporate and other unallocated expenses (10,323)
Finance costs (26,716) 

Profit before tax 250,123 

At 30 June 2012
Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 499,549 539,442 1,038,991  

Corporate and other unallocated assets 651,700 

Total assets 1,690,691 

Segment liabilities 8,970 34,732 43,702  

Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 359,773 

Total liabilities 403,475 
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Plantation of 
agricultural 

produce

Production of 
processed 

fruits Consolidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 30 June 2011
Segment revenue

Sales to external customers 147,921 307,264 455,185
Intersegment sales  47,894  – 47,894   

Segment revenue 195,815 307,264 503,079  

Elimination (47,894) 

Consolidated revenue 455,185 

Segment results 99,118 86,910 186,028  

Unallocated gains 5,786
Corporate and other unallocated expenses (6,495)
Finance costs (19,576) 

Profit before tax 165,743 

At 30 June 2011
Assets and liabilities

Segment assets 206,309 196,542 402,851  

Corporate and other unallocated assets 687,586 

Total assets 1,090,437 

Segment liabilities 5,482 30,662 36,144  

Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 264,557 

Total liabilities 300,701 
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segment are identical to the Group’s accounting policies as described in 
note 3. Segment results represent the profit attributable to each segment without allocation of central administration 
costs, director’s remuneration, bank interest income, finance costs and income tax expense. This is the measure 
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

(a) all assets are allocated to operating segments other than pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 
and certain other receivables which were managed in a centralised manner.

(b) all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than secured bank loans, convertible bonds, tax 
payable, deferred tax liabilities and certain other payables which were managed in a centralised manner.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

Other segment information

Year ended 30 June 2012 

Plantation of 
agricultural 

produce

Production of 
processed 

fruits Unallocated Consolidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts included in the measure of segment 
profit or segment assets:

Depreciation and amortisation (note 1) 363 23,649 231 24,243
Additions to non-current assets (note 2) – 228,673 – 228,673
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 413 – 413
Write-off of inventories 4,241 – – 4,241
Gain from changes in fair value of biological assets 

less costs to sell (108,511) – – (108,511)
Government grant income – (2,360) – (2,360)
Impairment loss of other receivables 

– indemnification assets – 10,325 – 10,325
Loss on disposal of held-for-trading investments – – 425 425

Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating 
decision maker but not included in the measure 
of segment profit or segment assets:

Bank interest income – – (7,921) (7,921)
Finance costs – – 26,716 26,716
Income tax credit – – (139) (139)    
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Other segment information (Continued)

Year ended 30 June 2011 

Plantation of 
agricultural 

produce

Production of 
processed 

fruits Unallocated Consolidated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts included in the measure of segment 
profit or segment assets:

Depreciation and amortisation (note 1) 257 14,077 50 14,384
Additions to non-current assets (note 2) – 30,319 – 30,319
Write-off of inventories 4,010 – – 4,010
Gain from changes in fair value of 

biological assets less costs to sell (113,142) – – (113,142)
Government grant income – (2,360) – (2,360)

Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating 
decision maker but not included in the measure 
of segment profit or segment assets:

Bank interest income – – (4,609) (4,609)
Finance costs – – 19,576 19,576
Income tax expense – 11,975 – 11,975    

Note 1: Amount excluded amortisation of lease prepayments for orange plantations.

Note 2: Amount included property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and land use rights acquired from business combination and excluded 
additions to lease prepayments for orange plantations and pledged bank deposits.

Geographic information
In view of the fact that the Group mainly operates in the PRC, no geographical information is presented.

Revenue from major products
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major products:

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

Sales of orange juice products
– Sales of FCOJ 254,099 152,114
– Sales of orange juice pulp 221,900 136,673
– Sales of orange fibre 30,147 17,065
– Others 5,632 1,412

Sales of fresh oranges 139,221 147,921  

650,999 455,185  
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Other segment information (Continued)

Information about major customers
The Group has identified 2 customers (2011: 1) which individually represented over 10% of the Group’s total external 
sales.

The sales to the major customers during the years are as follows:

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

Customer A1 202,422 106,774
Customer B2 73,518 N/A3

  

Customer A and Customer B accounted for approximately 31% (2011: approximately 23%) and approximately 11% 
(2011: nil) of total sales of the Group, respectively.

1 Revenue from production of processed fruits segment.
2 Revenue from plantation of agricultural produce segment.
3 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total sales of the Group during the year ended 30 June 2011.

8. REVENUE AND OTHER REVENUE
Revenue represents the revenue arising on the sales of fresh oranges, FCOJ and its related products.

An analysis of other revenue is as follows:

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)   

Bank interest income 7,921 4,609
Government grants (note 31) 2,360 2,360
Net foreign exchange gain 425 1,177
Others 70 321  

10,776 8,467  
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9. FINANCE COSTS

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Restated)   

Imputed interest expenses on convertible bonds 18,054 15,332
Interest expenses on secured bank loans wholly repayable 

within five years 8,662 4,244  

26,716 19,576  

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit before tax has been arrived at after charging:

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Staff costs, including Directors’ remuneration (note 11):
Wages, salaries and other benefits 86,427 70,532
Contributions to defined contribution plans 3,651 2,989
Equity-settled share based payment expenses 729 2,981  

90,807 76,502  

Amortisation of land use rights 357 251
Amortisation of intangible assets 5,602 –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,284 14,133
Operating lease charges in respect of rented premises 31,621 14,855
Auditor’s remuneration 1,100 1,800
Impairment loss of other receivables

– indemnification assets 10,325 –
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 413 –
Loss on disposal for held-for-trading investments 425 –  
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration paid or payable to each of the seven (2011: five) directors were as follows:

For the year ended 30 June 2012 

Director’s fee

Wages, 
salaries and 

other benefits
Discretionary

 bonuses

Contributions 
to defined 

contribution 
plans

Equity-settled 
share based 

payment 
expenses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors
Mr. Sin Ke 997 600 800 7 70 2,474
Mr. San Kwan 600 600 800 9 112 2,121

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Liao Yuangwhang 

(appointed on
13 December 2011 and 
resigned on 16 March 2012) 103 – – – – 103

Independent Non-executive 
Directors

Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan 48 – – – – 48
Mr. Zhuang Weidong 48 – – – – 48
Mr. Zeng Jianzhong 

(appointed on
1 September 2011) 40 – – – – 40

Mr. Tu Zongcai 
(resigned on
1 September 2011) 8 – – – – 8      

1,844 1,200 1,600 16 182 4,842      
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2011 

Director’s fee

Wages, 
salaries and 

other benefits
Discretionary 

bonuses

Contributions
to defined 

contribution
 plans

Equity-settled 
share based 

payment 
expenses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors
Mr. Sin Ke 600 372 800 – 317 2,089
Mr. San Kwan 600 370 800 – 423 2,193

Independent Non-executive 
Directors

Mr. Zhuang Xueyuan 48 – – – – 48
Mr. Zhuang Weidong 48 – – – – 48
Mr. Tu Zongcai 48 – – – – 48      

1,344 742 1,600 – 740 4,426      

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years 
ended 30 June 2012 and 2011.

During the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the Directors as an 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

The remunerations of Directors and key management were determined by the remuneration committee having regard 
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2011: two) Directors, details of whose remuneration 
are set out in note 11 above. The remuneration of the remaining three (2011: three) highest paid employees is set out 
below:

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Wages, salaries and other benefits 1,015 374
Discretionary bonuses 700 600
Contributions to defined contribution plans 15 31
Equity-settled share based payment expenses 70 1,535  

1,800 2,540  
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12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

The remuneration is within the following bands:

Number of employees 
2012 2011   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 
(2012: equivalent to nil to RMB819,000; 
2011: equivalent to nil to RMB833,000) 3 2

HK$1,000,001 to 1,500,000
(2012: equivalent to RMB819,001 to RMB1,229,000; 
2011: equivalent to RMB833,001 to RMB1,250,000) – 1  

3 3  

During the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the highest paid 
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Current tax – PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)
Provision for the year 1,262 11,565
Under-provision in respect of prior years – 410  

1,262 11,975  

Deferred tax
Reversal of temporary differences (note 34) (1,401) –  

Income tax (credit) expense (139) 11,975  

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax 
in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

No provision has been made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the Group did not have assessable profit subject to Hong 
Kong Profits Tax for both years.

The provision for PRC EIT is based on the respective applicable rates on the estimated assessable income of the 
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and regulations 
of the PRC.
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13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (Continued)

With effect from 1 January 2011, the Company’s subsidiaries which are responsible for orange juice production are 
exempt from EIT on profits from orange juice production, pursuant to Cai Shui [2008] No. 149 issued by the Ministry 
of Finance of the PRC. Accordingly, from 1 January 2011, certain subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC (i.e. cultivation 
and selling of self-cultivated fresh oranges and orange juice production) are exempt from EIT, subject to annual review 
by the local PRC tax authority of the Company’s subsidiaries and any future changes in the relevant tax exemption 
policies or regulations. Before 1 January 2011, these subsidiaries are subject to EIT at 25% in the PRC.

The applicable income tax rate for the rest of the Group’s operating subsidiaries in the PRC is 25% for the years 
ended 30 June 2012 and 2011.

The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as follows:

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Profit before tax 250,123 165,743  

Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) 62,531 41,436
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 8,041 397
Tax effect of income not taxable (408) –
Tax effect of different taxation rates of subsidiaries operating in 

other jurisdictions 1,537 4,212
Tax effect of tax exemptions granted to subsidiaries in the PRC (71,840) (34,544)
Under-provision in prior years – 410
Others – 64  

Income tax (credit) expense (139) 11,975  

14. DIVIDEND
Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000   

No dividend in respect of the previous financial year, approved and 
paid during the year (2011: 2010 final dividend of RMB0.013 per 
ordinary share) – 13,050  

The board of Directors does not recommend the payment of a final dividend to shareholders for the year ended 30 
June 2012 (2011: nil).
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

Earnings

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share 250,262 153,768
Effect of effective interest on the liability component of 

convertible bonds 14,573 –  

Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings per share 264,835 153,768  

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted earnings per share reconciled to the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share as follows:

Number of shares

2012 2011   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 
the purpose of basic earnings per share 1,138,453,800 1,015,439,315

Effect of deemed issue of shares under the conversion of 
convertible bonds (note 30) 67,831,079 –

Effect of deemed issue of shares under the Company’s share option 
scheme for nil consideration (note 32) 9,073,618 20,870,454  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
diluted earnings per share 1,215,358,497 1,036,309,769  

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011 does not take into account 
the potential effect of the deemed conversion of certain convertible bonds into ordinary shares during the year as it 
has an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share amount for the year.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group 

Buildings
Plant and 

machinery

Furniture,
 fittings and 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles
Construction 

in Progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST
At 1 July 2010 42,084 120,996 757 3,680 – 167,517
Additions 5,436 368 153 583 23,779 30,319
Transfer 1,186 194 – – (1,380) –      

At 30 June 2011 and 
1 July 2011 48,706 121,558 910 4,263 22,399 197,836

Additions 33,269 964 858 331 200 35,622
Acquired on acquisition of 

subsidiaries 37,974 21,211 45 60 – 59,290
Disposals – (1,152) – – – (1,152)      

At 30 June 2012 119,949 142,581 1,813 4,654 22,599 291,596      

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

At 1 July 2010 4,237 19,478 271 820 – 24,806
Provided for the year 3,135 10,376 157 465 – 14,133      

At 30 June 2011 and 
1 July 2011 7,372 29,854 428 1,285 – 38,939

Provided for the year 4,438 12,954 313 579 – 18,284
Eliminated on disposals – (715) – – – (715)      

At 30 June 2012 11,810 42,093 741 1,864 – 56,508      

CARRYING VALUES
At 30 June 2012 108,139 100,488 1,072 2,790 22,599 235,088      

At 30 June 2011 41,334 91,704 482 2,978 22,399 158,897      
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Company 
Furniture, 

fittings and
 equipment

RMB’000  

COST
At 1 July 2010 97
Additions 30 

At 30 June 2011 and 1 July 2011 127
Additions 17 

At 30 June 2012 144 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 July 2010 21
Provided for the year 39 

At 30 June 2011 and 1 July 2011 60
Provided for the year 27 

At 30 June 2012 87 

CARRYING VALUES
At 30 June 2012 57 

At 30 June 2011 67 

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for construction in progress, are depreciated at the 
following rates per annum on a straight-line basis:

Buildings 2.5% to 6.67%
Plant and machinery 5% to 20%
Furniture, fittings and equipment 20% and 33%
Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

At 30 June 2012, the carrying values of the Group’s buildings located in the PRC and Hong Kong amounted to 
approximately RMB102,821,000 (2011: RMB35,909,000) and RMB5,318,000 (2011: RMB5,425,000) respectively. 
The above buildings are depreciated over the terms of the leases. All buildings are situated on lands held under 
medium-term lease.

At 30 June 2012, included in property, plant and equipment are buildings with carrying amount of approximately 
RMB5,638,000 (2011: RMB5,947,000) which are located in the PRC and the Group is in the process of obtaining the 
building certificates.

At 30 June 2012, the carrying value of the Group’s buildings of approximately RMB65,227,000 (2011: nil) was 
pledged as security for the banking facilities granted to the Group.
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17. LAND USE RIGHTS

The Group
RMB’000

COST
At 1 July 2010, 30 June 2011 and 1 July 2011 12,557
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries 5,520
Additions 2,191 

At 30 June 2012 20,268 

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 July 2010 1,276
Provided for the year 251 

At 30 June 2011 and 1 July 2011 1,527
Provided for the year 357 

At 30 June 2012 1,884 

CARRYING VALUES
At 30 June 2012 18,384 

At 30 June 2011 11,030 

All the Group’s land use rights relate to lands located in the PRC under medium-term lease.

As 30 June 2012, the carrying value of the Group’s land use rights of approximately RMB7,646,000 (2011: nil) was 
pledged as security for the banking facilities granted to the Group.
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18. LEASE PREPAYMENTS FOR ORANGE PLANTATIONS

The Group 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 July 137,075 141,443
Additions 284,995 10,487
Amortisation (30,798) (14,855)  

At 30 June 391,272 137,075  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Current portion 48,178 13,418
Non-current portion 343,094 123,657  

391,272 137,075  

Lease prepayments for orange plantations represent long-term rentals under operating leases for orange farms in the 
PRC.

19. GOODWILL

The Group
RMB’000

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 40) and at 30 June 2012 56,696 

On 9 November 2011, the Group acquired entire equity interests in Global One Management Limited (“Global One”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Global One Group”), and goodwill of approximately RMB56,696,000 
was recognised upon acquisition. Details are set out in note 40.
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19. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment test on goodwill
The Directors conducted impairment review on goodwill attributable to Global One Group at 30 June 2012 by 
reference to a valuation report issued by Avista Valuation Advisory Limited (“Avista”), an independent qualified 
professional valuer not connected with the Group, who has among its staff members of the Hong Kong Institute 
of Surveyors. The recoverable amount of Global One Group has been determined by reference to value in use 
calculations. The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management 
covering a five-year period, and at a discount rate of approximately 15%. The cash flows beyond the five-year period 
are extrapolated using 3% average growth rate. These average growth rates are based on the relevant industry 
growth rates forecasts and do not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. Other key 
assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows including budgeted 
sales and gross margin, such estimation is based on the past experience and management’s expectations for the 
market development and the Directors considered appropriate.

According to the result of such review, the Directors determined that there was no impairment on the goodwill 
attributable to Global One Group during the year ended 30 June 2012.

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group 
Customer 

list
Customer 

relationship Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

COST
Acquired upon acquisition of subsidiaries (note 40) and 

at 30 June 2012 82,390 43,660 126,050

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
Provided for the year and at 30 June 2012 (3,662) (1,940) (5,602)   

CARRYING VALUES
At 30 June 2012 78,728 41,720 120,448   

Customer list and customer relationship have a finite useful life and are amortised on a straight-line basis over 15 
years.

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 275,447 48,995  
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
The following list contains only the particulars of principal subsidiaries of the Group.

Name of subsidiary
Class of shares 
held

Place and date 
of establishment/
incorporation

Issued and 
fully paid up/
registered capital

Percentage of ownership interest 
attributable to the Company Principal activities

and place 
of operation

 
2012 2011

Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly

Sunshine Vocal Limited 
(“Sunshine Vocal”)

Ordinary shares The BVI 
17 July 2007

USD100,000 100% – 100% – Investment holding
in Hong Kong

Rich Anges Limited 
(“Rich Anges”)

Ordinary shares The BVI 
10 October 2007

USD1 100% – 100% – Investment holding
in Hong Kong

Potel Limited (“Potel”) Ordinary shares Hong Kong 
3 September 2007

HK$1 – 100% – 100% Investment holding
in Hong Kong

Manwell (China) Limited 
(“Manwell”)

Ordinary shares Hong Kong 
22 November 2007

HK$1 – 100% – 100% Investment holding
in Hong Kong

Global One Management Limited 
(“Global One”) (Note (c))

Ordinary shares The BVI, 
18 August 2010

USD1 – 100% – – Investment holding
in Hong Kong

森美（福建）食品有限公司
Summi (Fujian) Food Co. Limited* 

(“Summi Fujian”) (Note (a))

Contributed capital The PRC 
15 March 1993

RMB80,000,000 – 100% – 100% Manufacturing and 
selling of FCOJ
in the PRC

三明森美食品有限公司
Sanming Summi Food 

Co. Limited*
(“Sanming Summi”) (Note (b))

Contributed capital The PRC 
27 September 2007

RMB10,000,000 – 100% – 100% Manufacturing and 
selling of FCOJ
in the PRC

重慶天邦食品有限公司
Chongqing Tianbang Food 

Co. Limited* (“Chongqing 
Tianbang”) (Note (a))

Contributed capital The PRC 
6 Auguest 2008

HK$80,000,000 – 100% – 100% Manufacturing and 
selling of FCOJ
in the PRC

懷化歐勁果業有限公司
(“Oujing”) (Note (b))

Contributed capital The PRC 
21 June 2007

RMB30,000,000 – 100% – – Manufacturing and 
selling of FCOJ
in the PRC

重慶尚果農業科技有限公司 
Chongqing Shangguo Fruit 

Technology Co., Ltd.* 
(“Chongqing Shangguo”) (Note (b))

Contributed capital The PRC 
16 December 2008

RMB35,000,000 – 100% – 100% Selling of 
fresh oranges
in the PRC

三明天溢農業綜合開發有限公司 
Sanming Tianyi Agricultural 

Integrated Development Co., Ltd.* 
(“Sanming Tianyi”) (Note (b))

Contributed capital The PRC 
19 December 2008

RMB2,000,000 – 100% – 100% Selling of 
fresh oranges
in the PRC

重慶邦興果業有限公司
Chongqing Bangxing Fruit Co., Ltd.* 

(“Chongqing Bangxing”)
(Note (b) and (d))

Contributed capital The PRC 
18 November 2011

RMB2,000,000 – 100% – – Selling of 
fresh oranges
in the PRC

* The English translation is for identification purposes only.

Notes: (a) Wholly-owned foreign enterprise

(b) Companies incorporated as private companies in the PRC

(c) Acquired during the year ended 30 June 2012

(d) Established during the year ended 30 June 2012
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the 
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in 
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of both years or during both years.

22. INVENTORIES

The Group 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Consumables and packing materials 1,089 350
FCOJ 32,803 7,575  

33,892 7,925  

The amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in profit and loss is as follows:

The Group 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount of inventories sold 398,818 309,898
Write-off of inventories 4,241 4,010  

Cost of inventories recognised as cost of sales 403,059 313,908  

Production quantities of agricultural produce are as follows:

The Group 
2012 2011

Tonnes Tonnes

Oranges 113,478 128,432  
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23. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS
Movements in biological assets, representing oranges before harvest, are summarised as follows:

The Group 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 July 46,335 42,219
Increase due to cultivation 123,764 86,324
Gain from changes in fair value less cost to sell (note a) 108,511 113,142
Harvested oranges transferred to inventories (195,285) (195,350)  

At 30 June (note b) 83,325 46,335  

Notes:

(a) The Directors measured the fair value of oranges at harvest based on market prices as at or close to the harvest dates.

(b) All oranges are harvested annually and are harvested shortly before the calendar year end. The Directors consider that there was no active 
market for the oranges before harvest at the end of the reporting period. The present value of expected cash flows is not considered a 
reliable measure of their fair value due to the need for, and use of, subjective assumptions including weather condition, natural disaster and 
effectiveness of agricultural chemicals. As such, the Directors consider that the fair value of biological assets at the end of the reporting period 
cannot be measured reliably and no reliable alternative estimates exist to determine fair value. Therefore, biological assets continue to be 
stated at cost as at 30 June 2012 and 2011.

The carrying value of biological assets as at 30 June 2012 and 2011 represents cultivation costs incurred including fertilisers, pesticides, 
labour costs and orange farm rental costs.

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES
The Group allows a credit period of 90 days (2011: 90 days) to its trade customers from the date of billing.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables based on the due dates at the end of the reporting period:

The Group 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Neither past due nor impaired 75,712 31,454
Less than 3 months past due 26,673 12,307
More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due – 2
1 to 2 years past due – 2  

102,385 43,765  
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of customers that have no recent 
history of default payment.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a 
good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the Directors believe that no impairment allowance 
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in the credit quality and the 
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The Group did not hold any collateral over the trade receivables.

25. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

The Group The Company  
2012 2011 2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Other receivables 20,801 3,225 2,821 325
Less: impairment loss (10,325) – – –    

10,476 3,225 2,821 325
Deposits and prepayments 2,626 3,289 – –    

13,102 6,514 2,821 325    

The movements in impairment loss of other receivables – indemnification assets are as follows:

The Group 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 July – –
Recognised during the year 10,325 –  

At 30 June 10,325 –  

As disclosed in note 40, the Group acquired the entire equity interest in Global One Group and recognised an 
indemnification asset arising from tax liabilities undertaken by the vendor of RMB10,325,000 and included in other 
receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position. Though attempts including legal action have been 
taken for recovery of debt, at 30 June 2012 and up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, 
the balance has remained unsettled. In the opinion of the Directors, the recoverability of the indemnification asset is 
remote and full impairment of approximately RMB10,325,000 is provided for the year ended 30 June 2012.

The Group and the Company did not hold any collateral over the other receivables.
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26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
As at 30 June 2012, the non-current portion of bank deposits of RMB120,350,000 (2011: RMB120,350,000) 
comprise five-year term deposits of RMB2,550,000 (2011: RMB2,550,000) pledged to secure an interest-free 
entrusted bank loan of RMB2,550,000 (2011: RMB2,550,000) and three-year term deposits of RMB117,800,000 
(2011: RMB117,800,000) pledged by one of the Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong to secure an interest-bearing 
bank loan of RMB114,190,000 (2011: RMB114,190,000) for one of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries. As at 30 June 
2012, the current portion of bank deposits of RMB2,550,000 (2011: RMB2,550,000) is pledged to secure an interest-
free entrusted bank loan of RMB2,550,000 (2011: RMB2,550,000).

The pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate ranging from 3.85% to 4.77% (2011: 3.85% to 5.13%) per 
annum.

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Group The Company  
2012 2011 2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank balances and cash 513,199 555,996 3,494 11,046    

At 30 June 2012, bank balances and cash of the Group and the Company denominated in RMB amounted to 
approximately RMB471,681,000 (2011: RMB549,397,000) and RMB5,000 (2011: RMB5,000), respectively. The 
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control 
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is 
permitted to exchange RMB to other currencies in respect of approved transactions through banks authorised to 
conduct foreign exchange business. The bank balances carry interest at market rates which ranges from 0.001% to 
1.6% (2011: 0.001% to 0.5%) per annum.

28. TRADE PAYABLES
The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure all payables are settled within the credit 
timeframe. The average credit period on purchase is 90 days or on demand (2011: 90 days or on demand).

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the due date at the end of the reporting 
period.

The Group 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Due within 3 months or on demand 7,947 8,210  
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29. SECURED BANK LOANS

The Group 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount repayable:
On demand or within one year 141,190 114,190
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 2,550 2,550
More than two years but not exceeding five years – 2,550  

143,740 119,290
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities (141,190) (114,190)  

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 2,550 5,100  

All the secured bank loans were denominated in RMB.

The secured bank loans at 30 June 2012 comprise an interest-free entrusted bank loan of RMB5,100,000 
(2011: RMB5,100,000) extended by a local finance bureau of the PRC, in support of the Group’s operations in 
agricultural industry, variable-rate bank loan of RMB114,190,000 (2011: 114,190,000) and fixed-rate bank loan of 
RMB24,450,000 (2011: nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest rates) on the 
Group’s interest-bearing bank loans are as follows:

2012 2011

Fixed-rate bank loans 7.87% –
Variable-rate bank loans 6.85% 5.76%

At 30 June 2012 and 2011, bank loans were secured by certain assets of the Group as set out in note 37. In 
addition, at 30 June 2012, certain bank loans were guaranteed by the Director, Mr. Sin Ke.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS
(a) Convertible bonds issued in 2012

In May 2012, the Company issued HK$ settled convertible bonds with 3.5% coupon per annum due 2015 in 
the aggregate principal amount of HK$232,800,000 (the “2012 CB”) to an independent third party. The issue 
of the 2012 CB was completed on 18 May 2012.

The principal terms of the 2012 CB are as follows:

(i) Optional conversion
Each bond will, at the option of the bondholders, be convertible (unless previously redeemed, 
converted or purchased and cancelled) on or after 18 May 2012 up to and including 12 May 2015 
into fully paid ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) with a par value of HK$0.01 each at a 
conversion price of HK$1.89 per share. A total of 123,174,603 Shares will be allotted and issued upon 
full conversion of the 2012 CB at the conversion price with HK$ principal amount of the 2012 CB.

(ii) Redemption at maturity
Unless previously redeemed, converted, or purchased and cancelled, the 2012 CB will be redeemed 
on 17 May 2015 at an amount equal to their HK$ principal amount multiplied by 137.5938%.

(iii) Redemption at the option of the bondholders
The Company will, at the option of any of the bondholders, redeem all or some of the 2012 CB at their 
HK$ principal amount multiplied by 137.5938% when there is a change of control of the Company, or 
when the Shares cease to be listed or admitted to trade on the Stock Exchange.

As the functional currency of the Company is HK$, the conversion of the 2012 CB will be settled by exchange 
of a fixed amount of cash in HK$ with a fixed number of the Company’s equity instruments. In accordance 
with the requirements of IAS 39 Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement, the 2012 CB contract 
needs to be separated into a liability component consisting of the straight debt element of the 2012 CB, 
a number of embedded financial derivatives consisting of redemption options, and an equity component 
representing the conversion options of the bondholders to convert the 2012 CB into equity. The proceeds 
received from the issue of the 2012 CB have been split as follows:

(i) Liability component represents the fair value of the contractually determined stream of cash flows 
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate applicable to instruments of comparable credit status 
and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the same terms, but without the embedded 
derivatives and the conversion features. The interest charged for the period is calculated by applying 
an effective interest rate of 16.79% to the liability component since the 2012 CB were issued.

(ii) Embedded derivatives comprise the fair value of the bondholders’ redemption options.

(iii) Equity component represents the conversion options, which is determined by deducting the fair 
value of the liability component and financial derivatives from the proceeds of issue of the compound 
financial instrument as a whole.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
(a) Convertible bonds issued in 2012 (Continued)

The fair value of the liability component of the 2012 CB was calculated using the Discounted Cash Flow model 
by Avista. The major inputs used in the model as at 18 May 2012 were as follows:

Liability component 
of the Company

Stock price HK$1.33
Exercise price HK$1.89
Risk-free rate 0.43%
Expected life 3 years
Volatility 61.34%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will result in changes in the fair value of the liability 
component. The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the liability component are 
based on the Directors’ best estimates.

The Directors consider the possibility of the occurrence of the events of change of control and delisting is nil 
and the fair value of the bondholder’s redemption options was nil as at 18 May 2012 and 30 June 2012.

(b) Convertible bonds issued in 2010
In May 2010, the Company issued USD settled unsecured zero coupon convertible bonds due 2012 in the 
aggregate principal amount of USD22,000,000 (the “2010 CB”). The subscription amount payable in respect 
of each USD1,000,000 principal amount of the 2010 CB is approximately RMB6,833,000. The issue of the 
2010 CB was completed on 28 May 2010.

The principal terms of the 2010 CB are as follows:

(i) Optional conversion
Each bond will, at the option of the bondholders, be convertible (unless previously redeemed, 
converted or purchased and cancelled) on or after 28 May 2010 up to and including 7 May 2012 into 
fully paid Shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each at a conversion price of HK$2.20 per share and a 
fixed exchange rate of USD1.00 to HK$7.7825. A total of 77,825,000 Shares will be allotted and issued 
upon full conversion of the 2010 CB at the conversion price with USD principal amount of the 2010 
CB.

(ii) Mandatory conversion
Each bond will, in the event that the closing price of the Shares for 30 consecutive trading days during 
the conversion period exceeds HK$3.00 per Share, be mandatorily converted (unless previously 
redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled) into the Shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each 
at the conversion price. A total of 77,825,000 Shares will be allotted and issued upon full conversion of 
the 2010 CB at the conversion price with USD principal amount of the 2010 CB.

(iii) Redemption at maturity
Unless previously redeemed, converted, or purchased and cancelled, the 2010 CB will be redeemed 
on 28 May 2012 at an amount equal to their USD principal amount multiplied by 110%.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(b) Convertible bonds issued in 2010 (Continued)

(iv) Redemption at the option of the bondholders
The Company will, at the option of any of the bondholders, redeem all or some of the 2010 CB at their 
USD principal amount multiplied by 110% when there is a change of control of the Company, or when 
the Shares cease to be listed or admitted to trading on the Stock Exchange.

As the functional currency of the Company is the HK$, the conversion of the 2010 CB will be settled by 
exchange of a fixed amount of cash in HK$ with a fixed number of the Company’s equity instruments. In 
accordance with the requirements of IAS 39 Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement, the 
2010 CB contract needs to be separated into a liability component consisting of the straight debt element of 
the 2010 CB, a number of embedded financial derivatives consisting of redemption options, and an equity 
component representing the conversion options of the bondholders to convert the 2010 CB into equity. The 
proceeds received from the issue of the 2010 CB have been split as follows:

(i) Liability component represents the fair value of the contractually determined stream of cash flows 
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate applicable to instruments of comparable credit status 
and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the same terms, but without the embedded 
derivatives and the conversion features. The interest charged for the period is calculated by applying 
an effective interest rate of 11.54% to the liability component since the 2010 CB were issued.

(ii) Embedded derivatives comprise the fair value of the bondholders’ redemption options.

(iii) Equity component represents the conversion options, which is determined by deducting the fair 
value of the liability component and financial derivatives from the proceeds of issue of the compound 
financial instrument as a whole.

The fair value of the liability component of the 2010 CB was calculated using the Discounted Cash Flow 
model. The major inputs used in the model as at 28 May 2010 were as follows:

Liability component 
of the Company

Stock price HK$2.65
Exercise price HK$2.20
Risk-free rate 0.73%
Expected life 2 years
Volatility 61.34%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will result in changes in the fair value of the liability 
component. The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair value of the liability component are 
based on the Directors’ best estimates.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
(b) Convertible bonds issued in 2010 (Continued)

The Directors consider the possibility of the occurrence of the events of change of control and delisting is nil 
and the fair value of the bondholder’s redemption options is nil as at 28 May 2010 and 30 June 2011. Upon 
maturity on 28 May 2012, the Company redeemed the 2010 CB at an aggregate amount of USD24,200,000 
(equivalent to approximately RMB153,795,000), being 110% of all the outstanding principal amount of the 
2010 CB.

(c) Movements of the convertible bonds
The movement of the liability and equity components of the convertible bonds for the year is set out below:

The Group and the Company 
2010 CB 2012 CB Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Liability component

At 1 July 2010 133,489 – 133,489

Interest charged during the year 15,332 – 15,332
Foreign exchange revaluation gain (58) – (58)
Exchange realignment (7,137) – (7,137)   

At 30 June 2011 and 1 July 2011 141,626 – 141,626
Issue of convertible bonds – 178,148 178,148
Transaction costs on issue of convertible bonds – (153) (153)
Redemption of convertible bonds (153,795) – (153,795)
Interest charged during the year 14,573 3,481 18,054
Interest accrued (included in other payable) – (779) (779)
Exchange realignment (2,404) 1,034 (1,370)   

At 30 June 2012 – 181,731 181,731   

Equity component

At 1 July 2010, 30 June 2011 and 1 July 2011 12,285 – 12,285
Issue of convertible bonds – 11,484 11,484
Transaction costs on issue of convertible bonds – (10) (10)
Redemption of convertible bonds (12,285) – (12,285)   

At 30 June 2012 – 11,474 11,474   

Net carrying amount
At 30 June 2012 – 193,205 193,205   

At 30 June 2011 153,911 – 153,911   

No conversion of the convertible bonds has occurred during the years ended 30 June 2012 and 2011.
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31. DEFERRED INCOME
Deferred income represents local government grant received for supporting the Group’s investment in a concentrated 
fruit juice production plant. The grant is recognised as other revenue over the estimated useful lives of the production 
plant assets.

The Group 
RMB’000

At 1 July 2010 22,420
Amortised during the year (2,360) 

At 30 June and 1 July 2011 20,060
Amortised during the year (2,360) 

At 30 June 2012 17,700 

The Group received discretionary grants from various PRC government authorities in recognition of the Group’s 
contribution to the development of the local agricultural industry and investment in a concentrated fruit juice 
production plant in Chongqing. These government grants are not recurring in nature and are not only available to the 
Group. There is no assurance that the Group will receive these government grants in the future.

32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE BASED TRANSACTIONS
A share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a written resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed on 
7 June 2008 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share 
of HK$0.01 each of the Company.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise, motivate and provide incentives to those who make 
contribution to the Group and to attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to 
employees (full-time and part-time), Directors, consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, 
customers, business partners or service providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of the 
Group.

The qualified participants include (i) any full-time or part-time employee of any member of the Group; (ii) any 
consultant or adviser of any member of the Group; (iii) any director (including executive, non-executive or independent 
non-executive directors) of any member of the Group; (iv) any substantial shareholder of any member of the Group; 
and (v) any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of any member of 
the Group.

On 18 November 2008, the Company granted 39,000,000 share options with a subscription price of HK$0.75 per 
share to certain qualified participants, all of whom were full-time employees of the Group.

On 11 October 2009, the Company granted an additional 10,000,000 share options with a subscription price of 
HK$0.90 per share to an employee of the Group.
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32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE BASED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

Date of options granted to 
the employees of 
the Group

Number of 
options

Exercise 
price

Vesting condition and 
exercisable percentage 
condition Up to %

Expiry date 
of the 

share options

18 November 2008
(“2008 Option”)

39,000,000 HK$0.75 1 year from grant date 31.3 17 November 2018

2 years from grant date 31.3

3 years from grant date 37.4

11 October 2009
(“2009 Option”)

10,000,000 HK$0.90 On the grant date 30.0 10 October 2019

1 year from grant date 30.0

2 years from grant date 40.0 

Total options granted 49,000,000 

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held by Directors and employees during 
the year:

Option type
Outstanding 

at 1/7/2011

Exercised 
during 

the year
Outstanding 
at 30/6/2012

2008 Option 20,700,000 (6,600,000) 14,100,000

2009 Option 4,000,000 (4,000,000) –   

24,700,000 (10,600,000) 14,100,000   

Weighted average exercise price HK$0.77 HK$0.81 HK$0.75   
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32. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE BASED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share options held by Directors and employees during 
prior year:

Option type
Outstanding 

at 1/7/2010

Exercised 
during 

the year
Outstanding 
at 30/6/2011

2008 Option 32,050,000 (11,350,000) 20,700,000

2009 Option 10,000,000 (6,000,000) 4,000,000   

42,050,000 (17,350,000) 24,700,000   

Weighted average exercise price HK$0.79 HK$0.80 HK$0.77   

The options outstanding at 30 June 2012 had a weighted average exercise price of HK$0.75 (2011: HK$0.77) and a 
weighted average remaining contractual life of 6.39 years (2011: 7.53 years).

The Group recognised total expenses of approximately RMB729,000 for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: 
RMB2,981,000) in relation to the fair value of the share options granted by the Company and vested during the year.

33. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. 
The assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The 
Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the Scheme, of which the contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme 
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute 5% to 13% of payroll costs to 
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement 
benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.
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34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The movements in deferred tax liabilities of the Group during the year were as follows:

The Group 

Intangible 
assets

Undistributed 
retained 

profits of 
PRC 

subsidiaries Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 July 2010, 30 June 2011 and 1 July 2011 – 1,250 1,250
Acquisition of subsidiary 31,513 – 31,513
Credited to profit or loss (1,401) – (1,401)   

At 30 June 2012 30,112 1,250 31,362   

Pursuant to the EIT Law, 10% withholding tax is levied on foreign investors (5% for foreign investors registered in 
Hong Kong provided they meet certain criteria) in respect of dividend distributions arising from a foreign investment 
enterprise’s profit earned after 1 January 2008. At 30 June 2012 and 2011, the Directors believed that should the 
Group determine to distribute profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries in the foreseeable future, the Group will be able 
to obtain the approval for the preferential withholding tax of 5% in relation to the dividend income.

At 30 June 2012, deferred tax liabilities of RMB1,250,000 (2011: RMB1,250,000) have been recognised in respect 
of the tax that would be payable on the portion of the retained profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries which the 
Directors expect to be distributed by them in the foreseeable future, based on the assumption that the approval for 
the 5% preferential withholding tax rate will be obtained.

However, deferred tax liabilities associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries amounting to RMB705,760,000 
(2011: RMB414,200,000) have not been recognised at 30 June 2012, as the Company controls the dividend policy 
of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries and the Directors consider it probable that a portion of the undistributed profits 
earned by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries as at 30 June 2012 will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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35. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
shares Amount

Amount 
as presented

HK$’000 RMB’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:
At 1 July 2010, 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2012 3,000,000,000 30,000 26,376   

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 July 2010 1,003,450,000 10,035 8,822
Shares issued under share option scheme (note b) 17,350,000 173 149   

At 30 June 2011 and 1 July 2011 1,020,800,000 10,208 8,971

Share issued upon acquisition of subsidiaries (note a) 177,272,727 1,773 1,444
Share issued under share option scheme (note b) 10,600,000 106 86   

At 30 June 2012 1,208,672,727 12,087 10,501   

All of the shares issued by the Company rank pari passu in all respects with other shares in issue.

Notes:

(a) On 11 November 2011, 177,272,727 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at the closing market price of HK$1.57 (equivalent to RMB1.28) 
per share were issued as settlement for consideration for the acquisition of the entire equity interest in the Global One Group. Details of the 
acquisition are disclosed in note 40.

(b) During the year ended 30 June 2012, share options granted under the share option scheme were exercised to subscribe for the Company’s 
10,600,000 (2011: 17,350,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at a consideration of HK$8,550,000 (equivalent to RMB6,949,000) 
(2011: HK$13,912,480 (equivalent to RMB11,982,000)), of which HK$106,000 (equivalent to RMB86,000) (2011: HK$173,500 (equivalent 
to RMB149,000)) was credited to share capital and the balance of HK$8,444,000 (equivalent to RMB6,863,000) (2011: HK$13,738,980 
(equivalent to RMB11,833,000)) was credited to the share premium account.

RMB3,352,000 (2011: RMB4,684,000) has been transferred from the capital reserve to the share premium. Details of the share option 
scheme are discussed in note 32.
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36. RESERVES
(a) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The 
share premium is distributable.

(b) Capital reserve
The capital reserve of the Group at 30 June 2012 and 2011 comprises the following:

– The excess of paid-in capital of Summi Fujian of RMB3,585,000.

– The capital reserve of Sunshine Vocal in connection with the waiver of an equity shareholder’s loan and 
related interest of RMB36,396,000.

– The difference between the consideration paid by Chongqing Shangguo to obtain the non-controlling 
interest in Sanming Tianyi and its carrying amount on the date of the acquisition.

– The fair value of the actual or estimated number of share options granted to employees of the Group 
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note 3.

– The amount allocated to the equity component of convertible bonds issued by the Company 
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds in note 3.

(c) Statutory reserves
Statutory reserves were established in accordance with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles 
of association of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries. Transfers to the reserves were approved by the directors of 
these companies.

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer no less than 10% of their net profits, as determined 
in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve until the 
reserve balance reaches 50% of their registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the 
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make good previous years’ losses, if any, and may be converted 
into share capital by the issue of new shares to shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholdings or by 
increasing the par value of the shares currently held by them, provided that the balance after such issue is not 
less than 25% of the registered capital.

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries made appropriations to discretionary surplus reserve in accordance with their 
board of directors’ resolutions.

(d) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of the Company. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in 
note 3.
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36. RESERVES (Continued)

(e) The Company’s statement of changes in equity

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 July 2010 8,822 149,444 21,782 184 (10,896) 169,336
Profit for the year – – – – 14,505 14,505
Other comprehensive expense
– Exchange differences arising on 

translation – – – (7,541) – (7,541)      

Total comprehensive income 
(expense) for the year – – – (7,541) 14,505 6,964

Dividend recognised as distribution 
(note 14) – – – – (13,050) (13,050)

Shares issued under share option 
scheme (note 35 (b)) 149 16,517 (4,684) – – 11,982

Recognition of equity-settled share 
based payments (note 32) – – 2,981 – – 2,981      

At 30 June 2011 and 1 July 2011 8,971 165,961 20,079 (7,357) (9,441) 178,213
Loss for the year – – – – (25,317) (25,317)
Other comprehensive income
– Exchange differences arising on 

translation – – – 1,153 – 1,153      

Total comprehensive (expense) 
income for the year – – – 1,153 (25,317) (24,164)

Recognition of equity component of 
convertible bonds (note 30) – – 11,484 – – 11,484

Transaction costs attributable to 
issue of convertible bonds (note 30) – – (10) – – (10)

Redemption of convertible bonds 
(note 30) – – (12,285) – 12,285 –

Shares issued under share option 
scheme (note 35(b)) 86 10,215 (3,352) – – 6,949

Shares issued upon acquisition of 
subsidiaries (note 35(a)) 1,444 225,304 – – – 226,748

Recognition of equity-settled share 
based payments (note 32) – – 729 – – 729      

At 30 June 2012 10,501 401,480 16,645 (6,204) (22,473) 399,949      
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37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged the following assets to banks to secure the bank loans 
granted to the Group:

The Group 
2012 2011

RMB’000 RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 65,227 –
Land use rights 7,646 –
Pledged bank deposits 122,900 122,900  

195,773 122,900  

38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group leases certain of its offices and orange plantations under operating lease arrangements. Lease are held for 
one to fifteen years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 162 116
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 101,708 21,000
After fifth years 101,708 21,000  

203,578 42,116  

39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following capital commitments:

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted, but not provided for:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 21,125 20,928  
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40. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
On 9 November 2011, the Group acquired the entire equity interests in Global One. This acquisition has been 
accounted for using the purchase method. The amount of goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition was 
approximately RMB56,696,000. The principal operating subsidiary of Global One Group, Oujing, is mainly engaged 
in the manufacturing and selling of FCOJ and its related products. The acquisition of Global One Group can further 
expand the Group’s FCOJ production capacity.

Consideration transferred:

RMB’000

Consideration shares issued in November 2011 226,748 

The consideration for the acquisition of Global One Group was satisfied by issuing of 177,272,727 ordinary shares of 
the Company with par value of HK$0.01. The fair value of the ordinary shares of the Company, determined using the 
closing market price at the date of acquisition of HK$1.57, amounted to approximately HK$278,318,000 (equivalent 
to approximately RMB226,748,000).

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately RMB114,000 have been excluded from the cost of acquisition 
and have been recognised directly as an expense in the current year and included in administrative expenses in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:

RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 59,290
Intangible assets 126,050
Land use rights 5,520
Inventories 19
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 422
Cash and cash equivalents 16,776
Income tax payable (10,325)
Secured bank loans (6,000)
Other payables and accruals (512)
Deferred tax liabilities (31,513) 

159,727 

The fair value of other receivables at the date of acquisition amounted to approximately RMB422,000, which was 
the same as the gross contractual amount of those receivables acquired at the same date. All the receivables at 
acquisition date are expected to be collected.
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40. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition:

RMB’000

Consideration transferred 226,748
Less: net assets acquired (159,727)
Less: an indemnification asset (note 25) (10,325) 

Goodwill arising on acquisition 56,696 

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Global One Group because the acquisition included the benefits of revenue 
growth, proximity to the supplies of agricultural products, assembled workforce and the benefits of expected 
synergies. These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition 
criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on the acquisition is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition:

RMB’000

Bank balances and cash acquired 16,776 

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group:
Included in the profit for the year is approximately RMB35,977,000 attributable to Global One Group. Revenue for the 
year includes approximately RMB94,925,000 generated from Global One Group.

Had the acquisition of Global One Group been completed on 1 July 2011, the revenue of the Group for the year 
ended 30 June 2012 would have been approximately RMB656,593,000 and the profit for the year would have been 
approximately RMB246,281,000. The pro-forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily 
an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually would have been achieved had the 
acquisition been completed on 1 July 2011, nor is intended to be a projection of future results.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group has the following significant 
related party transactions.

(a) At 30 June 2012, the amount of the Company’s payables to the subsidiaries of approximately 
RMB11,355,000 (2011: RMB11,355,000) did not have fixed repayment dates and was unsecured and non-
interest bearing. The Directors cosidered that these payables were not expected to be settled within one year.

(b) At 30 June 2012, the amount of the Company’s receivables from the subsidiaries of approximately 
RMB313,791,000 (2011: RMB143,394,000) was unsecured, non-interest bearing and not expected to be 
settled within one year.

At 30 June 2011, the amount of the Company’s receivables from the subsidiaries of approximately 
RMB129,432,000 (2012: nil) was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(c) During the reporting period, remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts 
paid to the Directors as disclosed in note 11 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 
12, is as follows:

2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term employee benefits 7,643 5,542
Contributions to defined contribution plans 55 83
Equity-settled share based payment expenses 252 2,646  

7,950 8,271  

42. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The following comparative figures had been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation as the Directors 
consider the reclassification are more meaningful.

(i) Bank charges of approximately RMB51,000 and net foreign exchanges gain of approximately RMB1,177,000 
were reclassified from finance costs to administrative expenses and other revenue respectively in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(ii) Interest paid of approximately RMB4,244,000 was reclassified from operating activities to financing activities 
in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

As the reclassifications do not affect the consolidated statement of financial position, it is not necessary to disclose 
comparative information as at 1 July 2010.
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The consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the financial 
statements of the Group are summarised below:

Results

Year
ended

30 June
2012

Year
ended

30 June
2011

Year
ended

30 June
2010

Eighteen
months
ended

30 June
2009

Twelve
months
ended

30 June
2009

Year ended
31 December

2007 
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 650,999 445,185 479,333 463,771 337,363 265,595      

Profit for the year/period 250,262 153,768 158,246 97,467 71,069 69,849      

Assets and liabilities

 As at 30 June As at 31 December
2012 2011 2010 2009 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total assets 1,690,691 1,090,437 818,480 493,731 277,463 174,285      

Total liabilities 403,475 300,701 184,745 39,057 75,223 41,894      
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